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SENATOR JACKIE SPEIER:  Good morning, ladies and gentlemen.  We’ll call to order the Senate Insurance Committee hearing.  This is an informational hearing on “Medicare HMO Pullouts and Coverage Erosion.”


After all the reading, all the study that we have done on this issue, I think I can wrap it up in one small phrase taken from the Apollo astronaut Jack Swigert, and it’s a variation on the theme and it would go like this:  “Washington, we have a problem.”


We are here today for some very serious talk about the fact that tens of thousands of Californians – seniors and those who are disabled – will be losing their Medicare Plus Choice option this year:  On January 1, 2002, to be exact.


Also on January 1, 2002, an estimated 1.9 [million] California seniors will be burdened with a financial menu of bad news in the form of higher premiums as much as $80 a month by some HMOs, higher copays, and reduced coverage.


One senior citizen on a fixed income called the committee yesterday to ask how he was going to afford a monthly premium hike of $80, not to mention a copay that will double.  And then there is another senior citizen living in Temecula, California, who has renal disease and is required to be on dialysis.  At $25 three times a week, you can imagine why she says, “If I can’t afford dialysis, I’ll just get everything in order and say goodbye to the world.”


That sent chills up and down my spine when I read it, as I’m sure it does to you upon hearing it.  We can’t allow the healthcare system for seniors in California to erode to the point where people just give up and say, “I’ll just die because I can’t afford it.”  We would all like to find answers for these people and for others who are in similar situations.  We cannot necessarily stop the fall, but at least we can break it so that the pain is minimized.


As committee chair, I want to understand the reasoning behind the announced Medicare HMO withdrawals and the benefit reductions, as I’m sure all of my colleagues do as well.  I think we want to be completely assured that California’s medically needy will not be victims of what we’re dubbing “healthcare redlining.”  And by that I mean that in some counties, such as the one I represent in San Mateo, seniors living on one side of the street have the option for HMO coverage and people living on the other side of the street who are seniors but living in a different zip code do not have the option for HMO coverage.


I’m really very pleased that today we will have the benefit of officials from the Center for Medicare and Medicaid Services.  That’s the new title for the federal agency now called CMS.  It’s my understanding this is the first time that they have testified at a legislative state hearing, and we appreciate very much their participation today.


Last July HMOs told CMS how they plan to change their Medicare HMO products.  Of concern is that Medicare has a new policy that allows HMOs to exit areas inside a county, zip code by zip code.  CMS reviewed and approved these changes which were made public on September 17th.  Last week, Medicare administrator Tom Scully said that “The days when Medicare beneficiaries could enroll in an HMO and get extra benefits, such as prescription drug coverage, for no additional cost are all but over.”


The concern of the committee is whether or not CMS has adequately reviewed the HMO plan changes to protect the safety and rights of seniors.  Representatives of consumers, HMOs, and regulatory agencies will be presenting testimony today, thus providing the committee with a well-rounded view of why we are where we are.


Before we get started, I’d like to invite my colleagues, the vice chair of the committee, Senator Ross Johnson, if you have any opening comments?  And committee member Senator Nell Soto.


All right.  We’ll begin then.  We have a full agenda.  I hope that you will all be precise in your comments.  I’m sure we will have lots of questions.  We’re going to start first with Mr. Craig Paxton and Ms. Peggy Lipper of Cattaneo & Stroud, Inc.  They have just completed an analysis of the HMO withdrawals for 2002 in California on behalf of the California Healthcare Foundation.  So, if you will come forward.


Good morning.


MR. CRAIG PAXTON:  Good morning.


MS. PEGGY LIPPER:  Good morning.


SENATOR SPEIER:  If you’ll pull the microphone in front of you and then state your name.


MR. PAXTON:  My name is Craig Paxton with Cattaneo & Stroud.


MS. LIPPER:  And I’m Peggy Lipper with Cattaneo & Stroud.


MR. PAXTON:  Thank you for having us here.  As you mentioned, we did this analysis for the California Healthcare Foundation, the first of a series of looks at changes in Medicare and how it affects California beneficiaries.


MS. LIPPER:  We’re going to use some overheads.


SENATOR SPEIER:  Yes, please.


MR. PAXTON:  There are packets of the overheads on the side table, if you wish to take those with you.


Today what I want to cover is an overview of the process that we undertook to perform this analysis, the nature of the data that we used and some of the results, and focusing on a couple of specific areas because the state as a whole is experiencing different changes by geography.


We take data the CMS releases, the data that the Chair referred to released on September 17th, as well as information from the Census and other governmental organizations, and analyzed what changes were being stated as taking place on January 1, 2002.  This includes information by plan.  It includes details about the benefits that each plan offers and what the changes in those benefits are and the number of members that each of those plans represents by county; and in the case of the Medicare withdrawals, how many affected members there are by zip code.


SENATOR ROSS JOHNSON:  I’m sorry, I didn’t follow that.


MR. PAXTON:  What we do is we’ve taken information from CMS and some other sources and focused on how the benefits have changed—


SENATOR JOHNSON:  No, no.  I don’t need the whole repetition.  I was following you perfectly until you got to the data by county and data by zip codes.  I couldn’t follow which sets of data you had by county and which by zip code.


MR. PAXTON:  The only data that we have by zip code is the number of members that are affected by the Medicare withdrawals.  A particular health plan will have a said number of members in a county and it may pull out of a subset of zip codes within that county, and we’ll know for that subset of zip codes how many members will be affected, as well as knowing the total eligible population, to get a sense of what proportion of the beneficiaries for this county are being affected.


SENATOR JOHNSON:  Beneficiaries of a particular HMO.


MR. PAXTON:  Beneficiaries of any particular HMO and then, as well, the total number of eligibles within that county.


SENATOR JOHNSON:  Because, obviously, one of the more important things that we need to know is how many are going to be left with no choice versus those who, as in my county, may lose one choice but still have a half a dozen others.  So, that’s important.


MR. PAXTON:  Yes.


SENATOR SPEIER:  Now, did your analysis accomplish that goal of being able to say, let’s say, of the 84,000 that we know are losing HMO coverage, how many of those 84,000 have no other HMO option?


MR. PAXTON:  Yes, we did find that out.  Some of the key findings up there, and some of which you mentioned previously, 84,000 residents of California are going to be affected by these changes.  So that will mean either that they will have to change their health plans or they will lose the option of choosing a managed care.


SENATOR SPEIER:  Senator?


SENATOR JOHNSON:  It occurs to me as I’m looking at this, did you, in this analysis, attempt to look at what would have been the result in the number of people affected if the option was not provided to withdraw by zip code but instead HMOs were withdrawing from entire counties?  In other words, is the shift to allow withdrawal by zip code resulting in more people being affected by withdrawals or potentially less?


MS. LIPPER:  No, we didn’t look at that specifically because you don’t know whether if you couldn’t have withdrawn by zip code if somebody would have withdrawn from the whole county.


SENATOR JOHNSON:  Right, but we do know that that was what was beginning to happen, that HMOs were withdrawing from entire—


MS. LIPPER:  We do know that, I think as one of the findings here says, is that while nationwide the number of people affected by withdrawals is lower on 

January 20, [20]02 than it was on January 20, [20]01, it is greater in California than the previous year.  We’ve had an increase in the number of seniors that are affected by withdrawals in 2002 than we did in 2001.


SENATOR JOHNSON:  Well, perhaps that’s a question that some other witnesses later in the hearing can address because – I mean, we might have had potentially even more people affected if there hadn’t been this change, and that’s something you weren’t able to look at.


MR. PAXTON:  No, we didn’t look at it for this.


SENATOR JOHNSON:  Thank you.


MR. PAXTON:  So, twenty-four of the fifty-eight counties in California, there are no plans available, and in eleven of those remaining counties, only one plan is available.  So, the choices have been limited.  There’s an additional layer of complexity in that for particular counties now.  It varies by zip codes, and zip codes draw fine lines as to what plan you can enroll in.  There is increasing concentration of the plans that offer coverage for beneficiaries, so that 80 percent of the beneficiaries are now in either PacifiCare, Health Net, or Blue Shield.


SENATOR SPEIER:  Where’s Kaiser?  Why is Kaiser not on your list?


MS. LIPPER:  Kaiser had very little activity in terms of changing their—


MR. PAXTON:  I’m sorry, I misstated that.  That was in terms of the changes, not on the total.


SENATOR SPEIER:  All right.  If I understand correctly, Kaiser is the only HMO in California that has not withdrawn from any of the markets in which it has been in.  Is that true?


MR. PAXTON:  That is true.


MS. LIPPER:  And they actually have the largest number of enrollees.  This finding is that of the people who are affected by changes in January, 80 percent of the people affected have been members of those three health plans:  PacifiCare, Health Net, and Blue Shield.  That’s just the affected people.  Kaiser enrollees were not affected this year.


SENATOR JOHNSON:  On that point – as I understand, Kaiser doesn’t have to negotiate with provider groups.  I mean, the physicians—


SENATOR SPEIER:  Yes, it does.


SENATOR JOHNSON:  Explain that to me.


MS. LIPPER:  Permanente medical groups have contracts with the Kaiser Health Plan.  And there are many areas where Kaiser Health Plan negotiates with other hospitals, other medical groups, other providers.


SENATOR JOHNSON:  Doesn’t, for the most part, Kaiser employ their own?


SENATOR SPEIER:  They contract with the Kaiser Permanente Medical Group, but they do negotiate contracts with them.  We’ll have Kaiser come up and speak to that.


SENATOR JOHNSON:  But is it not accurate to say that the fundamental model of Kaiser differs fairly dramatically from other HMOs in California?


MR. PAXTON:  That is true.


SENATOR JOHNSON:  So, it’s kind of comparing—


MR. PAXTON:  There are certain geographies – in Stanislaus County, for instance – where they rely much more heavily on outside providers than the Permanente Medical Group.


SENATOR JOHNSON:  I see.


MR. PAXTON:  We produced a series of maps here to try to summarize some of the data and give a sense of how the changes are being affected and where those changes are located.  This first map is showing a couple of levels of detail.  First, it’s showing the number of plans that have withdrawn from areas on a county perspective.


SENATOR SPEIER:  Is this only 2002?  So, those that pulled out in 2001 aren’t reflected on this map?


MR. PAXTON:  That’s correct.  This is just 2002.


SENATOR SPEIER:  So, we’d almost need a subsequent overlay to show what the result will be in 2002 for the entire state.


MR. PAXTON:  Well, this is the comparison 2001 to 2002.  You could have an overlay for what changes took place in 2001 because there were withdrawals in 2001 as well.


SENATOR SPEIER:  I guess what I’m trying to determine, if there was a withdrawal in 2001, are they shown as white already?  Or would they be shown as black, even though there’s not an HMO available there?


MS. LIPPER:  Explain the legend.


MR. PAXTON:  In here the points are colored by the number of plans that are planned to withdraw from these counties in 2002 alone.  I’m not showing any of the plans that withdrew during 2001.  So, any white circle is a county where no plans withdrew.  Santa Clara County, for instance, the plans were not withdrawing from there.


SENATOR SPEIER:  So, no plans withdrew or there’s no plans there at all?


MR. PAXTON:  There are plans there and none withdrew.


SENATOR SPEIER:  But how about in Northern California?  I bet many of those counties where there’s—


MR. PAXTON:  There’s no plans.


SENATOR SPEIER:  So, the white does not necessarily mean no one withdrew; it could mean that there are no plans there or no one withdrew.


MR. PAXTON:  That’s correct.  The white means that there’s no managed care plans.


MS. LIPPER:  Changed.


SENATOR SPEIER:  It’s not a very helpful map, I think.


MR. PAXTON:  Okay.


SENATOR JOHNSON:  Madam Chair, I want to thank you for that because I was just becoming totally confused by this.  I’m glad to know that I’m not alone.


MR. PAXTON:  Hopefully this will be a little better.


SENATOR SPEIER:  Okay.


MR. PAXTON:  Sometimes if you spend too much time with the data, you can add too much detail.


This shows on a zip code basis for the Peninsula – San Mateo County 

primarily – what health plans are pulling out of those selected zip codes.  In the legend here, HN refers to Health Net and PC refers to PacifiCare.  The shadings of the redder color means that there are two plans pulling out from that zip code.  The lighter color, the more beige color, means that only one plan is removing from that zip code.


As you mentioned, in the southern part of the county, PacifiCare is withdrawing, and for the most part, in the northern part of the county and certainly in central San Mateo, Health Net is removing itself from those zip codes.


SENATOR SPEIER:  Now, the thing that I find a little bit alarming about this is that it’s almost too coincidental that one is moving out of one area, the other is moving out of the other area, so they become the sole providers in each area.  Is that correct?


MR. PAXTON:  They’re the sole managed care provider for beneficiaries.  

MS. LIPPER:  Or Kaiser.

MR. PAXTON:  Or Kaiser, I’m sorry.



SENATOR SPEIER:  With the exception of Kaiser.


MR. PAXTON:  Yes.


SENATOR SPEIER:  But from the nonintegrated model, that is the result, with the exception of that white area which they both continue to serve, which happens to be the richest area in San Mateo County.


MR. PAXTON:  No changes in the white areas.  So, in all those affected areas, they went from three choices to two, or in the darker areas from three choices to one.


I have a couple of other counties that were – yes?


SENATOR JOHNSON:  Obviously, we’re talking about the chairwoman’s area.  Are there zip codes that are left with no options?


MR. PAXTON:  In San Mateo County?  Not this time, no.


SENATOR JOHNSON:  Then the second question is, when you say “left with one,” is it one plus Kaiser or one?  Is the minimum two, so that in every zip code in San Mateo and San Francisco there are at least two options available?


MS. LIPPER:  Kaiser covers the entire county of San Mateo.


SENATOR JOHNSON:  I’m sorry?


MS. LIPPER:  It’s our information that Kaiser covers the entire county of San Mateo.


SENATOR SPEIER:  Well, wait a minute, since I live there.  I don’t know that Kaiser covers the coast.  There are areas on the coast that, unless they can get to the two hospitals in San Mateo County to get their health care, they are not going to be covered, and that means that they’ve got to travel more than fifteen miles, or thirty minutes, to get to those two hospital settings.


MS. LIPPER:  So, it may not be convenient.  There’s no doubt about that.


SENATOR SPEIER:  Well, normally that’s how we determine whether something is indeed appropriate for an HMO enrollee:  if it’s within fifteen miles or thirty minutes.


MR. PAXTON:  I think in San Mateo there’s an exception because Kaiser will enroll people from anywhere within San Mateo County as a regular in-area member.


SENATOR SPEIER:  Anyway, Senator, you were—?


SENATOR JOHNSON:  Yes, I’m just trying to understand exactly what the information that’s being presented, what that means.  I guess it means that while there have been withdrawals by HMOs, that there’s no zip code that doesn’t have at least two options.  Now, as to Senator Speier’s question about convenience, that’s maybe another issue.  But there’s no one who would not have at least two options available:  one or the other of these HMOs, plus Kaiser, as options that would be available.  Now, as to whether that’s convenient or not – I mean, if you live in Inyo County, you can be the wealthiest person in America, and if you’re living in Inyo County, medical care is going to be inconvenient for you.


SENATOR SPEIER:  Well, this was not being, I guess, suggested for any other purpose but to show how zip coding is working in certain areas.  I think it’s also important to note that if an enrollee has had a patient-doctor relationship for, let’s say, ten years and all of a sudden now they no longer can have that relationship with that doctor but for moving to an integrated model where they wouldn’t have that relationship with the doctor, their options are probably to go to Medicare without an HMO so they can continue the relationship with the doctor.


SENATOR JOHNSON:  Believe me, Madam Chair, I don’t have a horse in this brace or a dog in this fight.  I’m just asking questions not in an effort to prove some point but to understand what’s being presented to us.


DR. MICHAEL ASHCRAFT:  Senator, may I make a comment?


SENATOR SPEIER:  Yes.


DR. ASHCRAFT:  Senator, just to clarify, if you’ll turn in your book to the very last page, there’s a map with an outline which I think highlights part of the confusion that we’re having.  The maps that were given to us originally from CMS did not agree with what Health Net said their geographic area was.  So, what we have here is data from PacifiCare and Health Net that shows that on the coast, this area as well, there is only one plan.  Health Net is not in this and PacifiCare is not in here, and that’s data from the two health plans.  As to whether or not Kaiser is there, we’ll ask them.  But in that area there’s only one.  Again, that just points out the confusion of the data that we’re getting, which I think is part of the focus of the hearing.


SENATOR JOHNSON:  Yes, and maybe we can just make the point with not just these witnesses but all the witnesses:  We have to have some common definitions to work from in order to determine if there’s a problem, and if there’s a problem, how big a problem it really is.  So, just, you know, throw around emotional comments doesn’t do us a whole lot of good.  And not that these witnesses were doing so, but others have.  So, if I ask basic kinds of questions as we progress, it’s from a desire to understand exactly what the data is telling us.


MS. LIPPER:  One more map.


MR. PAXTON:  This shows the same thing but for the East Bay, where you have a lot more activity in terms of withdrawals and how they differ; in particular, with Contra Costa County.  PacifiCare and Blue Cross are pulling out of many of the counties and Health Net is pulling out from a few as well.


SENATOR JOHNSON:  Where are we looking at?


MR. PAXTON:  This is East Bay.


SENATOR SPEIER:  This is Contra Costa County – Alameda.


MS. LIPPER:  And San Joaquin goes farther to the east as well.


SENATOR JOHNSON:  These colored maps represent the entire communities of each of those counties?


MR. PAXTON:  It does.


SENATOR JOHNSON:  Contra Costa, Alameda, San Joaquin.


MR. PAXTON:  Right.  And in Contra Costa County in particular, there were, again, several plans that were pulling out selectively some zip codes but not others.


SENATOR JOHNSON:  What do the white areas mean?  You’ve got a big white area here, San Joaquin County, and a good-sized white chunk in what would be Alameda County, I gather?


MR. PAXTON:  The white chunk in the middle means that there’s no change for that zip code.


MS. LIPPER:  So, again, it means that it’s still covered.


SENATOR SPEIER:  Or never was covered.


MS. LIPPER:  In these cases, they’re still covered.


SENATOR SPEIER:  So, in these particular white areas, they have a minimum of three plans providing options for them.


MR. PAXTON:  I believe that’s correct.


MS. LIPPER:  Yes.  Including Kaiser.


SENATOR JOHNSON:  For folks like me, it’s a lot simpler if you follow a consistent use of these things, because on an earlier map, the color meant that there was no coverage, and here it means there’s no change and they may or may not be covered.


MS. LIPPER:  What’s been consistent is that we’ve been showing where the withdrawals have been, and if there’s no withdrawal, if there’s no change in activity, then it’s been white.  That shows you the area and the plans that are causing all of the seniors who reside there to make a change.  They may still have choices, but all of those areas are places where people have to make a change.


SENATOR SPEIER:  And the deepest red color represents three plans are pulling out this year.


MR. PAXTON:  That is correct.


SENATOR SPEIER:  And then that medium shade there have been two, and then the lighter shade one.


MR. PAXTON:  Yes.


SENATOR SPEIER:  But we don’t know if there are other health plans available to these.


MS. LIPPER:  There are.


SENATOR SPEIER:  In all of them there are.


MR. PAXTON:  There are, yes.


MS. LIPPER:  In those particular counties.


SENATOR SPEIER:  Why would you speculate those white areas still have all those choices?  What’s the rationale?


MR. PAXTON:  Can you tell me which white area?


SENATOR SPEIER:  Those little enclaves.


MR. PAXTON:  Those two.  That’s the Bay.


SENATOR SPEIER:  No, I’m talking—


MR. PAXTON:  I excluded San Mateo County.  I see the enclaves you mean.  Those two right in the center.


SENATOR SPEIER:  Like this one and this one.


SENATOR JOHNSON:  If I understood you correctly, you said that meant there’s no change.


MS. LIPPER:   Correct.


SENATOR JOHNSON:  But we can’t tell from this.  I presume there are other tables that we could cross-reference to know what – I mean, there may be folks who have no change from before.


MR. PAXTON:  Yes.


SENATOR JOHNSON:  So, had they not withdrawn previously by zip codes, presumably there’s a range of options still available for people in those two areas.


MR. PAXTON:  Yes.


MS. LIPPER:  There are always places where there aren’t a lot of people living there so people don’t change and the plans have no reason to change and there’s just no difference.  These are very urban kinds of areas.


SENATOR SPEIER:  These are very urban areas, but to have these enclaves where there are no changes, which means you had a choice of moving them out by zip code, was it just an oversight by the plans that they weren’t included?  Or what’s the rationale that they would continue to have benefits?


MR. PAXTON:  That’s a possibility because zip codes are very messy things.  They don’t specifically refer to any contiguous geography.  In the plan reporting to CMS, there were a number of zip code errors, including reporting zip codes that didn’t exist and zip codes that were no longer in use.  I tried to interpret in some cases what were errors to provide a consistent coverage of these.


SENATOR SPEIER:  All right.  Next?


MS. LIPPER:  That’s all we had.


SENATOR SPEIER:  That’s it?  Do you have any comments you’d like to make in general about what your study suggests?


MS. LIPPER:  We didn’t try to speculate as to reasons why.  What struck us is the increased level of activity, the amount of changes that seniors are being faced with, and the increased activity at the zip code level which, given the policy changes, we hadn’t experienced before, and that more and more California seniors are facing very difficult choices and changes.


SENATOR SPEIER:  Let me ask you a couple of questions.  Your Table 1 in your report shows that there are 3.2 million Medicare eligibles in California.  It suggests that there are 1.2 million who are in an HMO option.  


MS. LIPPER:  Actually, that’s the sum of those places that were affected.  The numbers at the bottom of that column are the total of the columns above.


SENATOR SPEIER:  So, there are 3.2 million Medicare eligibles in California.  That figure of 1.2 [million] does not represent the number of Medicare-managed healthcare beneficiaries in California.  It represents the number that were impacted.


MS. LIPPER:  In the areas that were affected by withdrawals.


MR. PAXTON:  I think the point there is that if someone had been considering a change – they were in a managed care plan and they’d been considering changing to another plan – their choice set was altered; they no longer had the menu that they thought they had to choose from.


SENATOR SPEIER:  Now, stats that we had two years ago when we did create a prescription drug benefit for seniors for those that were subject to HMO pullouts, the figure we were using was almost 2 million California seniors are in an HMO plan.  Is that fairly accurate in your estimation then?  That hasn’t changed that much?


MS. LIPPER:  Right.  There’s been a slight decline but not much in terms of the overall number of seniors who are in HMOs in California.


SENATOR SPEIER:  But that 2 million figure is fairly accurate.


MS. LIPPER:  Yes.


SENATOR SPEIER:  Members, what makes this pretty significant here in California is that nationwide, the number of seniors in Medicare-managed plans is about 14 percent.  In California, it’s two-thirds—


MS. LIPPER:  Forty-eight percent.  It’s about 48 percent.


SENATOR SPEIER:  Well, if we have 3.2 million Medicare eligibles and 2 million are in managed care.


MS. LIPPER:  There’s more than 3.2 [million] Medicare eligibles.  That’s just the sum of that column.


SENATOR SPEIER:  So, you’re saying almost 50 percent.


MS. LIPPER:  Almost 50 percent of the Medicare eligibles are members of Medicare Plus Choice plans in California.


SENATOR SPEIER:  So, the impact in California is much greater than it is anywhere else in the country.


MS. LIPPER:  Yes.


SENATOR SPEIER:  Do you have any evidence to suggest that premiums go up when there’s only one HMO in a county?


MS. LIPPER:  You know, we’re just beginning to look at that.  There are very few zero premium plans in the state of California any longer.


MR. PAXTON:  And where they exist is in the L.A. area.  In the L.A. area they have the largest choice set; the largest number of plans to choose from.


MS. LIPPER:  That isn’t in that report yet.


MR. PAXTON:  That will be in subsequent information.


SENATOR SPEIER:  If you do a subsequent report, what would be beneficial, I think, is to answer some of the questions that are being raised here this morning in terms of overall impact.  


In Los Angeles, where there’s the greatest choice, where the actual Medicare reimbursement is about $670, they have some modest premium or no premium still?


MS. LIPPER:  If I’m remembering correctly, I think Los Angeles County has about eight plans available, six of which are zero premium.  The other two have premiums, I believe, of $25 and $35 a month.  But those are relatively low.


SENATOR NELL SOTO:  (Inaudible.)


SENATOR SPEIER:  Senator Soto said that was too much.  Do you know, in some of the counties now they’re paying $80-a-month premium?


SENATOR SOTO:  (Inaudible.)


SENATOR SPEIER:  No, I know it is, but L.A. is in the catbird seat if you compare the entire state.  What I’d like to know is if you get to the $670 figure, which appears to be a figure at which you can provide services, make a profit, and not have to pay an additional premium as a senior, if that is indeed the case.  In those other counties where they do have premiums of eighty or a hundred, whatever, you add that to what they’re being reimbursed by Medicare, and let’s say it’s $500, and if you add the premium and a copay and you get up to that $670, the question then should be:  Shouldn’t these products be equal in terms of what services are being provided?  By prescription drugs, for instance.


MS. LIPPER:  Yes.  As you were observing, without an integrated plan, there is a payment to providers, to the physicians and hospitals, and home healthcare agencies and all those other things.  That is going to vary according to the negotiations and the contracts that the health plans have.


MR. PAXTON:  So, in a place like Riverside, where you’ve got the east and the west, there can be a completely different economic landscape as far as the providers are concerned in one half of the county as opposed to the other half of the county which would affect plan economics in those two areas.


SENATOR SPEIER:  All right.  Any other questions?  All right, thank you very much.


Our next panel of speakers, if you will come up once you’re announced:  Harry Ambrunn, who is a pharmacist at Medical Center Pharmacy in Burlingame, California; Maria Gil de Lamadrid from San Francisco; Pauline Sorrensen from Palm Springs; and Wen Daniels from the Health Insurance Counseling and Advocacy Program that is also known to us as HICAP.  If you’ll all come forward at this time.  Thank you.


Good morning.  Please have a seat.  Anywhere is fine.


Mr. Ambrunn, would you like to begin?


MR. HARRY AMBRUNN:  Yes.  My name is Harry Ambrunn.  I’ve been a pharmacist for more than forty years and currently own the Medical Center Pharmacy in Burlingame.  


I’m here because I and many of my colleagues in the pharmacy profession and medical profession are seriously concerned about the quality of care that Secure Horizons’ members will receive as a result of the changes in drug benefits that Secure Horizons announced recently, and these will all become effective on January 1, 2002.


We have already seen in pharmacies and in physicians’ offices the fear and anxiety displayed by Secure Horizon members because their plan will no longer allow them to get some of the medicines they’ve been taking, in some cases for years.  As a result, for many of them they will have out-of-pocket expenses for these drugs.


Before I talk about these changes briefly, let me read to you one sentence from the cover letter attached to the list of changes.  Please keep this sentence in mind as I discuss some of these changes.  The sentence reads:  “We know that our most important job is to help you get the healthcare that you need.”


Beginning on January 1, 2002, no brand-name drugs, including insulin, will be covered.  Let me repeat that:  Beginning January 1, 200[2], no brand name drugs, including insulin, will be covered.  Only generic drugs will be a covered benefit.


Now, there are a number of classes of drugs used to treat various conditions for which there are no generic equivalence.  For example, drugs called statens are used to reduce cholesterol.  Currently, there’s only one generic staten available which is less effective than the brand-name statens.  Niacin is also used but does not require a prescription and therefore is not covered.  Taking the brand-name statens off the covered list of drugs will surely increase the number of physician visits that will be required and will probably increase hospital admissions and emergency room visits due to the possibility of heart attacks.


Antidepressant and antipsychotic drugs.  Currently, only Prozac has a generic equivalent.  Some of the newer and more effective anti-anxiety drugs will not be covered, resulting again in increased physician visits and possible hospital admissions.


One of the covered generic antidepressants, the generic form of Elavil, is covered but has many side effects which the newer drugs don’t have.  The side effects can be irreversible, especially in the elderly.  The use of this generic to treat psychosis or depression as an alternative to the newer generic drugs would be equivalent to going back to the Dark Ages in using leeches.


Steroid inhalant drugs.  Steroids is a general term for cortisone type drugs and are used to treat and prevent asthma and similar conditions.  In the list of changes that was sent to members it says, “Hand-held inhalation units remain part of the pharmacy benefit.”  The problem with that statement is that there are no generic steroid containing inhalants available.  Asthma patients will spend a good part of their lives in the emergency rooms just so they can breathe.


As mentioned before, insulin will not be a covered benefit anymore as there are no generic insulins available.  It is ironic that glucose test strips to measure sugar in the blood are a medical benefit, not a pharmacy benefit.  It’s ironic, as I said:  You can get the test strips but you can’t get the insulin.


Antibiotics.  Not all infections can be treated with generic penicillin and penicillin-related drugs.  A patient with an infection who is allergic to penicillin, or when the bacteria is resistant to penicillin, has very few other alternatives.  Again, the cost will shift to hospitalization and increased physician visits.


There are many other exclusions but there are also some nonpharmacy exclusions all related to patient care that need to be addressed.  These include hearing aides, custodial care, which includes care that assists patients in activities of daily living such as walking, getting in and out of bed, bathing, feeding, and the use of the toilet, to mention just a few.


Now, all healthcare providers support the lowering of healthcare costs but not at the expense of taking care of people, especially when we read a report in the November 1, 2001 publication of the California Healthline, as reported in the Orange County Register.  This report stated that “PacifiCare’s third-quarter profits tripled to $17 million, despite membership declines.”


No one expects an insurance company or an HMO to cover all the thousands of drugs on the market but, at the very least, at least two representative drugs in each category where there are no generic equivalent should be covered.  If for medical reasons these cannot be used, requesting and obtaining authorization for an alternative should be a benefit.  It was last year.  Drugs that were not covered last year, the doctor can call for an authorization and usually can get it.  In 200[2], authorizations for noncovered drugs will not be covered.


SENATOR SPEIER:  Is that a determination that’s being made by Secure Horizons?


MR. AMBRUNN:  Yes.


SENATOR SOTO:  (Inaudible.)


MR. AMBRUNN:  Right.


The outrageous benefit changes I’ve mentioned will result in chaos in the next few weeks.  Telephone calls to physicians’ offices by patients and pharmacists will be monumental.  It’s been said that pharmacists now spend from fifteen to twenty minutes every hour trying to solve insurance problems for their patients.  In my experience, the return calls from doctors for drug therapy change requests may take from two to five days and may result in crucial medications not being taken until the doctor responds.  Many doctors, because of their short staffing and the increased number of patients that they see, will call us and will say, “I don’t have time nor the staff to deal with all the different plans.  Tell the patient that’s the drug I want used.  If it’s not covered, tell the patient they’ll have to pay for it.”  Many of these drugs, unfortunately, cost upwards of 60, 80, 100 dollars for a month’s supply.  


What exacerbates this problem also is that all these plans are different – they have different restrictions, they have different exclusions – and no one knows for sure what is covered and what isn’t covered until the patient is standing in the pharmacy and needs that drug.


These are very critical issues for public health and they must be addressed in some way.  Not on January 1st but now.


Thank you for allowing me to address the committee.


SENATOR SPEIER:  Thank you.  It’s my understanding that you closed your pharmacy today in order to travel to Sacramento and participate.


MR. AMBRUNN:  Yes.


SENATOR SPEIER:  That’s a very generous gesture on your part, and we thank you on behalf of the state.


Senator Soto?


SENATOR SOTO:  When you talk about the test strips that …(inaudible)… because I have to buy chemstrips.  The last time I went to get mine, the doctor hadn’t called it in.  I had to pay $76 for chemstrips.


MR. AMBRUNN:  That’s right.


SENATOR SOTO:  Seventy-six dollars.


MR. AMBRUNN:  And imagine having to pay that and not being able to get the insulin.


SENATOR SOTO:  I just can’t imagine going without insulin.  I don’t know what would happen if you’re on that.  But I’m just bringing up the point how expensive it is.


MR. AMBRUNN:  Yes, it is.


SENATOR SPEIER:  How expensive is insulin?


MR. AMBRUNN:  Depending on the type, it can vary from $25 to $35 for maybe a month, month-and-a-half supply.


SENATOR SPEIER:  What do you think the rationale is for not covering insulin and covering much more expensive drugs?


MR. AMBRUNN:  I have no idea.  I cannot, in my wildest imagination, find a justification for that.


SENATOR SOTO:  Madam Chair?


SENATOR SPEIER:  Senator Soto.


SENATOR SOTO:  Last year at one of these hearings that we had in L.A., we talked about limiting the amount of profit for prescription drugs.  Have we done anything on it?  Is there something that we could do to follow up on that?


SENATOR SPEIER:  Well, getting a bill through the Legislature was not a successful effort that I undertook.


SENATOR SOTO:  Maybe we ought to bring it back.


SENATOR SPEIER:  You try it next year.  (Laughter.)


SENATOR SOTO:  I’ll try it.


MR. AMBRUNN:  Let me just mention, in that vein, the profit for pharmacies is absurd.  We get paid from most of, if not all, these HMOs and insurance companies.  We get the cost of the drug, plus what they call a filling fee, which ranges from $1.75 to $2.75 per prescription.


SENATOR SOTO:  I wasn’t referring to the pharmacy.  I was referring to the manufacturers of the drugs.


MR. AMBRUNN:  I realize that.


SENATOR SOTO:  We talked last year about a lot of their money goes into advertising, if we could just reduce that.  Remember?  We did discuss that and nothing happened, so maybe I will bring it up.


MR. AMBRUNN:  If you can reduce that and reduce the cost of sending tons of samples to every doctor’s office for drugs that they will never use, that is also a cost savings possibility.


SENATOR SPEIER:  Your folks on Secure Horizons, is that just the most egregious set of restrictions that are being imposed?  Are the other HMOs, for the most part, continuing to offer the prescription drugs that they have in the past?  The copays are just higher?  Is that it, for the most part?


MR. AMBRUNN:  Yes, the copays are higher.  I have not looked recently at the other plans.  The reason I looked at Secure Horizons is one of my customers sent me this announcement from Secure Horizons.  But they’re all reducing benefits.  They’re all reducing drug benefits.  In particular, they’re increasing copays, and they’re making it very, very difficult for patients to get what they need.


SENATOR SPEIER:  The discount program that we’ve created here in California for Medicare recipients, what’s been your experience with it when seniors find themselves in a situation where, like, insulin is not covered?  They can then use their Medicare card, and under our California plan, they will pay the Medi-Cal reimbursement rate rather than the retail rate.


MR. AMBRUNN:  Right.


SENATOR SPEIER:  Now, insulin, off the top of your head, what kind of savings will that be for them?


MR. AMBRUNN:  Probably $10 per vial.


SENATOR SPEIER:  Per vial?


MR. AMBRUNN:  Yes.


SENATOR SPEIER:  I don’t use insulin, so a vial is used, what, for—?


SENATOR SOTO:  It’ll last about a month, six weeks.


MR. AMBRUNN:  But there are other drugs that might normally cost $200.  So you get a discount on that – it’s a discount – but it isn’t much of a help.


SENATOR SOTO:  Insignificant.


MR. AMBRUNN:  Yes.  Especially AIDS drugs.  AIDS drugs, if there are no generics, which most of them don’t have, I have no idea what’s going to happen to those patients; those patients that are covered by HMOs.  Most of them are on Medi-Cal, but there are some that have HMOs and insurance plans.


SENATOR SOTO:  You’re talking about the ACE inhibitors?  People that take ACE to reduce the possibility of kidney failure?


MR. AMBRUNN:  No, I’m talking about AIDS.


SENATOR SOTO:  Oh, I’m sorry.  I thought you said “ACE.”


SENATOR SPEIER:  All right.  Our next witness is Maria Gil de Lamadrid.


MS. MARIA GIL DE LAMADRID:  Thank you.  I’m sorry I’m so late.  I just came in from San Francisco.  


SENATOR SPEIER:  Oh, did you?  Would you like us to take someone out of—


MS. GIL DE LAMADRID:  No, I’m actually fine.  I’d be happy to go ahead and testify.


As you said, my name is Maria Gil de Lamadrid.  I am an active member of the MS Society and I have MS myself.  I also have several other disabling conditions including lupus and Crohn’s disease and diabetes as well.  Thanks to modern medications, I have been able to continue to work for much of my adult life and have been able to continue to function fairly well.  Ultimately, I ended up on twenty-six different medications to deal with all of the symptoms of all of my various conditions as well as the side effects of those medications.  So, it has gotten relatively complicated for me.


As I said, I’ve been able to continue to work much of the time that I’ve had MS.  I’ve had MS for actually about sixteen years.  I ceased working about two years ago, but up until that point in time, I was able to continue to work as I developed these additional disabling conditions as well, thanks in large part to the medications that I was on.  But like I said, I ended up on twenty-six different medications, and two years ago I retired on disability.  I currently have COBRA benefits, but I’m eligible for Medicare and will be switching over to Medicare next year.  I have an HMO under COBRA benefits.  My initial plan was to switch over to an HMO supplement.  But like I said, I just came from San Francisco and my HMO in San Francisco is pulling out.  So, it’s leaving me sort of high and dry at this point in time and in a conundrum that I had not anticipated up until this point in time.


My original plan, like I said, was to move into a supplemental HMO plan.  My current options, without having this supplemental HMO plan to go to, none of them seem to be very satisfactory.  I could go without coverage, but my twenty-six medications cost approximately $3,000 a month.  Not a year, a month.  And obviously, for a person who’s on disability income, that’s really not a realistic option not to have coverage.  


I could go to the remaining HMO in San Francisco, which is Kaiser.  However, I have a team of ten physicians right now, most of them specialists, some of whom I’ve been with for up to ten years; and what this would mean would be a complete overhaul on who I see as my medical team.  It would be a total disruption in my continuity of care, and that seems like a nightmare to me as well given the complexity of my case.


I could switch to a PPO, but my understanding is most of the PPOs require patients to contribute, for example, one third of the cost of the medications.  We’re still talking about $1,000 a month on disability income.  Not a very viable option either.


Finally, I could stop taking my medications, but it’s the medications that permitted me to continue to function.  At the time that I started taking some of these medications, I was in so much pain that I was not able to lift my head off a pillow without being in excruciating, intolerable pain.  These medications permit me to keep functioning.  As you can see, I function pretty well on these medications.  If I stop taking them, I stop functioning; and in fact, ceasing to take some of my medications is life-endangering to me.  So, that’s not a viable option.  


Essentially, I feel like I’m in a no-win situation here, and I don’t know where to turn at this point in time without having the option that I had counted on up until this point in time when my COBRA benefits cease.


Finally, I want to address just very briefly the issue of brand name versus generic drugs, because I personally am impacted by that as well; in that because of the complexity of my medications, there is a fine balance in terms of the side effects and the interactions between my medications.  And sometimes generic drugs are not effective for me, where brand-name drugs may be.  Sometimes I can’t tolerate the generic medication, for whatever reason, and I can tolerate the brand name.  Or sometimes, as happened very recently to me, the generic medication just simply was not available and I needed to fill my medication so I had to fill it with a brand name.


So, what that results in for me, if brand-name medications are no longer covered by HMOs, the result for me is a drastic increase in cost.  And again, we’re talking astronomic numbers here.  Last year with my existing copays, which are $5 for generic, $10 for brand name, I paid $2,000 out of pocket for medication copays alone.  If my brand-name medications are not covered, as you can imagine I’m looking at astronomical numbers again that are just inconceivable for me.


So, I beseech you to tackle this problem and see if we can come up with some kind of solution that will, in fact, make it workable for people like me.


Thank you very much.


SENATOR SPEIER:  I was astonished when you said you paid $2,000 out of pocket for just the five and ten dollar copays on your drugs.


MS. GIL DE LAMADRID:  Yes.  You know, medications are a big part of my life financially, timewise, everything.  And that’s what happens to a lot of people with disabilities at this point in time because physicians are moving away from doing procedures and moving more towards treating symptoms with medications, particularly new medications that are becoming available.  Although my case may be somewhat extreme, I don’t think I’m alone in looking at a very significant financial impact when it comes to coverage and medications.


SENATOR SPEIER:  Are you Medi-Cal eligible then?


MS. GIL DE LAMADRID:  I’m Medicare eligible.  I’m not Medi-Cal eligible.  However, I did talk to a social worker to find out if there was any way that I could be eligible for the Medi-Cal coverage since it does cover many medications, and basically she said yes, as long as I spent all of my income down to, I think, six or seven hundred dollars on the medications and then Medi-Cal would cover the rest of the medications.  But, of course, living in San Francisco, that’s not a very realistic option either.


SENATOR SPEIER:  All right.  Our next witness is Pauline Sorrensen from Palm Springs.  You flew up from Palm Springs to be with us?


MS. PAULINE SORRENSEN:  Yes, we did.  


My name is Pauline Sorrensen.  I’m from Palm Springs.  I’m considered a terminal patient with the Gambro Health service.  I am on dialysis four days a week.  I have an income, total income, of $700.  That includes my Social Security and SSI.  Out of that I pay rent.  I’m in a HUD-subsidized apartment, and I pay rent, $170 a month.  My electrical runs about $63 a month; telephone $12.  My car insurance runs about $20.  Medication is about $28.  Food, $200.  Gasoline for my car about $50.  Gas for my apartment – I have a gas stove – is $10.  For my entertainment I have cable TV which is $42.  And bus to dialysis is $32 a month.  And, my new medical costs now of copays per dialysis treatment will be $25.  Sixteen times twenty-five, that’s $400 a month.  Out of my income, there’s no way I can do it.  


Another doctor’s visit – soon I have to go to my primary doctor – I pay $10 for copay.  I need a cap on the drug benefits, and before, there was no cap on generic and now there’s a $2,000 cap on that.  I am under Medi-Cal since I am a terminal patient, and luckily Medi-Cal does pick up my medication.


SENATOR SPEIER:  But Medi-Cal does not pick up your dialysis.


MS. SORRENSEN:  No, it does not.  Secure Horizons pays for that.


SENATOR SPEIER:  And they’re now charging a $25 copay.


MS. SORRENSEN:  Now they would have to charge me $25 a visit, and I go four days a week.


SENATOR SPEIER:  One of the plans was originally going to charge $75, so imagine what that would have cost you a month.


MS. SORRENSEN:  Well, that means I would have to quit dialysis, and that means, since I’m terminal, they’d pull the plug.  I would have to quit.


SENATOR SPEIER:  With this new cost that you’re going to have to pay to Secure Horizons, have you looked at how you would be able to do it?


MS. SORRENSEN:  There’s no way I could do it.  I can’t get help.  I’ve tried other HMOs; they won’t take me – I’m a dialysis patient – or the copays are way too much, and I still can’t make a copay; not on $30 left over.  You can’t do much with $30 left over from your paychecks.


SENATOR SPEIER:  Wow.


MS. SORRENSEN:  Yup.  Another other questions?  (Laughter.)


SENATOR SPEIER:  Medi-Cal will not pay for dialysis.


MS. SORRENSEN:  No.


SENATOR SPEIER:  I find that hard to believe.  Is it the category you’re in?  Because I’m sure other Medi-Cal patients are in need of dialysis and they must be getting it under Medi-Cal.


MS. SORRENSEN:  All I know is Secure Horizons is the one that’s paying for my dialysis, because it states right in their brochure that they pay for dialysis.


SENATOR SOTO:  They advertise that they do pay for dialysis?


MS. SORRENSEN:  Pardon?


SENATOR SOTO:  Did you say it says in their brochure that they pay for it?


MS. SORRENSEN:  Oh, yes; they pay for it, yes.


SENATOR SPEIER:  We have some people in the audience willing to comment.


Mr. Arnold, would you like to come up?


MR. MICHAEL ARNOLD:  Yes, Madam Chair, Michael Arnold.  I represent the California Dialysis Council.  


A patient such as Ms. Sorrensen is a Medicare patient and therefore Medi-Cal becomes the secondary payer.  So, Medicare being the primary payer, when she had the option of joining a Medicare Plus HMO, she did that because by joining a Medicare Plus HMO, she was told at the time that she would have her drugs covered and that she would not have additional out-of-pocket costs.  She entered that Medicare Plus HMO, and now basically what’s happening is people are changing the benefit package with the copays, as she has described.


But with respect to Medi-Cal, if she were to spend down and become then Medi-Cal eligible with perhaps a share of cost, I think Medi-Cal allows a single individual such as Ms. Sorrensen to keep an income of approximately $600 per month.  So, she would have to spend down the extra $100 and then she would be Medi-Cal eligible and they could pick up the entire coverage.  But there are a lot of patients who are not in that category and who simply wouldn’t qualify for Medi-Cal coverage until they have spent all of the resources that they have.


But for those patients who have absolutely no additional resources, then they do at some point become Medi-Cal eligible and Medi-Cal will cover.


SENATOR SPEIER:  All right.  So, Ms. Sorrensen, there may be a solution for you, and we should help you pursue that through Medi-Cal.


MS. SORRENSEN:  Okay.


SENATOR SPEIER:  All right?


MS. SORRENSEN:  Thank you very much.


SENATOR SPEIER:  Wen Daniels is our next presenter.


Thank you again, Mr. Ambrunn, for coming up.


MS. WEN DANIELS:  This is the Orange County comparisons, and this is actually the Riverside County … (inaudible).  I have an overhead presentation, and it’s more of a grassroots approach.


My name is Wen Daniels.  I’m from HICAP.  I have two hats on today.  I also represent California Health Advocates.  As part of California Health Advocates, I represent Southern California Medicare beneficiaries, and as part of HICAP, I’m the Medicare HMO benefit specialist, and I work in HICAP Orange County.  HICAPs, if you’re familiar with them, is the Health Insurance Counseling and Advocacy Program, and HICAPs throughout the state, in every county, provide unbiased Medicare information to Medicare beneficiaries on Medicare and Medigap supplements, etc.


SENATOR SPEIER:  It’s a great organization.


MS. DANIELS:  Thank you.


What I want to talk about today is what I’ve seen in counseling in HICAPs.  Our figures are a little different than the others.  I think these were taken from the HCFA website, or CMS website.  California Health Advocates is the umbrella organization representing the HICAP managers in different counties.  But we serve over, I think, about four million Medicare beneficiaries in California.  Increasingly, we serve the HMO population with doing the counseling advocacy, and we also do appeals.  So, any denial of services from an HMO, we do the appeals for that.  We have over two thousand community educational forums that we provide throughout the state per year, and we do that with staff and supplemented with six hundred volunteers who are trained and certified by the state.


Normally, we do a really, really great job.  We’re very successful in helping seniors walk through the maze of Medicare.   As you can see today, it’s very complex.  We’re talking about Medicare rules; we’re talking Medicare supplement rules; we’re talking about retirement insurance rules and, increasingly, HMO rules; and seniors are working now so that now we’re talking about employer group health plan rules and how all those things work together, and that’s really a very difficult thing to do.


I should say, however, when there’s a very difficult problem, as we heard here today, we normally, up to this point, have been able to find some kind of solution from all the programs that are available and help the client.  I should say that we have been really successful up until October, and I’m going to talk right now about Orange County.


In October, we were successful until the announcement of the HMO cuts.  Now, we’re not worried in Orange County that much about HMO pullout.  We’re worried about the erosion of benefits.  Once we found out just how severely the benefits were going to be cut and what a difference there was, we received desperate phone calls.  The phones were ringing off the hook.  This is one of our counselors in Orange County.  Desperation.  We were in shock, the counselors were in shock, and when we finally came out of this shock and this disorientation, we realized that we couldn’t any longer do the great job that we were doing because, for some people, there just were no answers anymore.  


There were very few options for many, especially for the sickest.  And we’re talking about, as you’ve heard today, dialysis, chemo, cancer, and people who need brand-name drugs.  Before, yes, we were able to find something where they could afford to make it.  At this point, chemo, dialysis, etc., we could not find, in some cases, solutions.


But the worst thing was that we couldn’t even find out the details of what the copays were going to be.  I’m going to walk you through this because I think this is really important – how our knowledge at this point was not easy to get.  As you see, there are comparison sheets, and we made up that one based on Medicare’s website for our own county.  


This is the way it happened.  Medicare announced the cuts in October and published on the Medicare website a small chart on the copays; for instance, for Orange County.  The minute I saw that I knew I’m going to be answering telephone calls, really specific questions, about “my oxygen,” “my drugs,” “my [this and that],” and I couldn’t answer those questions and give the person an idea of how much they would have to start paying in January.  For instance, there’d be a block that said “Radiation” on the Medicare website.  Radiation said “$250.”  These are just the general benefits that you’re looking at.  The radiation, chemotherapy, other things are not even on those charts.  And on the “Radiation” block on the HCFA website, it said “$250; chemo, $250.”  


I immediately started getting calls from patients who were getting chemo and radiation, and we thought:  Two hundred and fifty dollars per day?  Two hundred and fifty dollars per a course of treatment?  There was no information.  There was no adequate information.  It was particularly important to me to know because I had just come out of radiation therapy myself and knew that for breast cancer it’s typically 27 to 30 days, consecutive days, of radiation therapy.  That meant, to me, when I saw that chart, it can’t be $250 per day that they’re going to charge.  It has to be protocol for the course of therapy.  So I thought:  Okay, I need to find out.  Radiation, chemo, and the other issue was durable medical equipment:  wheelchairs, oxygen, electric wheelchairs.  Everybody was calling.  And yet, on the HCFA website chart, it said, and I’m talking about Secure Horizons now, it said:  “$50-$150 rental or purchase (20%).”  A portable wheelchair that’s not worth that much money probably, I was figuring was maybe $50 rental per month; not an electric wheelchair that might be worth $10,000.  Obviously, that was going to be more.  There was no way to know what does this mean, and how can I counsel people and tell them, “You’re going to have to pay this much next month”?


So, what I did was I called the local HMO and got to the New Benefits specialist, and he said, Yes, chemo’s $250, radiation is $250.  Still didn’t know everyday or course of treatment.  When I got to the DME part, it fell apart.  He said, I cannot answer any of these questions.  This is much too complex on DME.  We don’t know yet.  Things are changing.  So he sent me to a telephone number nationwide for the HMO and he said, They’ll be able to help you.


Knowing that sometimes I had gotten inaccurate information from these telephone numbers, I decided – I knew chemo was $250 – so what I decided to do was start with chemo; something that I knew more or less had a figure attached to it.  And I asked the woman, who was trying to be very helpful, Look up chemotherapy and tell me what the cost is going to be.  And she looked and she looked and she just couldn’t find it.  She said, It must not have a copay because I can’t find a category.  I said, No, I know it’s $250 copay, so there’s something there.  It turned out that she was looking up kenotherapy – K-E-N-O – which could be a psych benefit maybe or an addiction benefit but not what I’m looking for.


The result of that call was that when she realized what I was really looking for she said, I have absolutely no figures for next year.  And that was the nationwide number.


So, there was quite a lot of inaccurate information, no information coming out, and I never could find out what the oxygen benefit was.  I finally, after about a week and a half of searching around, I finally found out that, yes – I couldn’t believe it – it is $250 per day for radiation.


SENATOR SPEIER:  Is what the copay is?!


MS. DANIELS:  Yes.  That is more than $7,000, and it’s $250 per day for chemotherapy, not course of treatment.  Unbelievable.  It was unbelievable.  I couldn’t believe that that was happening.


SENATOR SPEIER:  What would it be under Medicare?


MS. DANIELS:  It’d be probably 20 percent of outpatient.


SENATOR SPEIER:  What would the outpatient costs be then?


MS. DANIELS:  That we’re trying to find out, and it’s very hard to find that out.  Right now we’re scrambling to find that out.


SENATOR SPEIER:  Two hundred and fifty dollars a day.


MS. DANIELS:  Two hundred and fifty dollars a day.  Finally, people were beginning to realize they were not just looking at these charts with the general information but realized they had to find out specifics about their particular disease, and they were realizing that these costs were unbelievable.  


So, there was basically different reactions coming in.  There was shock, there were tears, there was rage, disbelief.  And strangely enough, a number of seniors were saying – now, this was happening in October, remember – they felt this had something to do with the terrorist attack.  You know, because from the shock, you’re trying to come up with an explanation for How can this be?  I can’t believe this.  So many people said to me, This is because of the war effort, right?  They don’t have enough money so they’re going to cut seniors and we’ve already lived our lives.  Another woman called crying and she was crying because she felt guilty because if she didn’t have oxygen – she wouldn’t be able to pay for her oxygen – and she said, I’m crying because I think I’m going to be accused of being unpatriotic if I complain like this, because I don’t want to take the money away from our soldiers.  So, it would have to be a coincidence that these changes came out right after the terrorist attack.


And my own feelings were – I had been awarded maybe five or six years ago the HCFA/CMS Medicare Beneficiary Award for Outstanding Service to Underserved Populations, particularly Spanish-speaking.  I speak Spanish.  And I had been sent to Baltimore and received this award.  I had it on my desk, was very proud of it, and now, every time I looked at it, it was as if it were mocking me because I couldn’t find the solutions that I was used to finding.  I would just leave callers – I wasn’t used to doing that – saying, I don’t know what your options are.


And then I started going out.  I do talks all around the area.  I go out not only to the barrio but to wealthy Anglo areas too, and these were the comments.  I was finding, unfortunately, that people hadn’t even heard about the changes yet, some people.  And when I would tell them, one woman in the barrio said, I’ll just take a pill and kill myself because I do not want to be forced – and this happens over and over again – I’ll take a pill and kill myself because I do not want to be forced to have to apply to Medi-Cal and lose my house.  Another more cynical approach was, Why don’t I just follow what the government wants me to do and do my duty and die?  Or just disbelief:  How could the government allow this to happen?

And what I saw was that there was so much stress and panic outside that I knew that even if we find a solution eventually, in two or three months, what is this stress doing to these compromised immune systems already?  Will they ever recover?  Because people were telling me that they were staying up at night, crying all night, because they were afraid they were going to lose their homes.


And so, when I was invited here, I wondered just how to tell the story and convey the pain out there.  What I decided to do was I couldn’t do it just by talking, so I wanted to walk you through a few of the cases that I’ve had so you can see different samples of different problems that are out there.  So, I’m going to do that very quickly, first.  Second, a ray of hope we discovered last week.  I want to talk about that, a possible new right to a Medigap supplement.  And finally, I want to ask you a question that’s been asked me in the community all over.


This is the first.  This is Ms. Azar.  And Ms. Azar typifies the end-stage renal disease patients.  She was one of the first people that called me and I could work on a case and see how devastating this was going to be.  She was crying.  Her husband is on end-stage renal disease.  He had three to four treatments per week.  And Orange County, the figure at that point – the figures change – but a figure at that point was $50 per dialysis treatment.  She had calculated that between the dialysis treatment, his DME equipment, which was wheelchair, walker, and some other item – that would be rental—


SENATOR SPEIER:  DME is durable medical–


MS. DANIELS:  Durable medical equipment, which would be wheelchair, walker, and one other item that I can’t remember.  That would be rental, and we’re still not sure exactly how much that is; we’re trying to find out.  So, the figures that she had with that rental, the dialysis treatment, and his brand-name drugs – there’s no brand-name drug coverage for Secure Horizons in Orange County now – she would be paying $1,400 a month.  She was afraid that he was losing his will to live based on this because they were afraid.  Now, you say, “Well, apply for Medi-Cal,” but with some people that have some money, if they spend down, then they’re afraid they’re going to lose their homes.


SENATOR SPEIER:  Because the spouse is without any.


MS. DANIELS:  Yes.  If they spend all that money down, they’re afraid that they won’t have any money to do anything else with; the other things that they need to pay, in other words.  Say for their mortgage or something like that.  Plus, people are afraid of losing their homes just in applying for Medi-Cal, but that’s not what I’m talking about.  I’m talking about actually the share of cost may be so high for them that that would ruin the quality of life in every other area.


So, Ms. Azar – I couldn’t find an answer.  I didn’t know what the answer was.  There was no answer.  She came to a forum that we had and she was crying there.  He took a turn for the worse, her husband.  I called her yesterday before I came here and, unfortunately, he died.  She said, Tell them that I really think when we discussed this, he lost his will to live and didn’t want to be a burden on us anymore.


This gentleman I don’t have a picture of.  I don’t think he’s here; he was thinking of coming.  I have this letter, if you’d like a copy of it.  He had called me, end-stage renal disease, a very articulate man. Now, remember, the cost of these items this year, right now, is zero.  We’re going from zero to $1,400 a month.  This gentleman told me with his end-stage renal disease, he was going from zero to $8,000 per year.  He wrote this great letter, quoting Hamlet, Act 1, Scene 5, starting with the word “Murder.”  He said, “I am a World War II vet on dialysis with end-stage renal disease, and I need your help in preventing a gross miscarriage of common decency.  My new plan for 2002 – aka, known as the ‘Euthanasia Plan’ for dialysis patients – proposes to increase covered service costs from zero to approximately $8,000 per year.  This incredible, ruthless increase from zero to $8,000 represents nothing less than a slow death sentence for dialysis patients on fixed income.”  I have this available, if you’d like.  I had, again, no answer for him.


This is Mrs. C.  She has a different kind of problem.  She’s got cancer, and she is an amazing woman who went on chemo in 1996.  She was in remission for two years and has been on chemo ever since 1998.  I didn’t even realize people could survive for that long on chemo.  She will have to be on chemo for the rest of her life.  That now, of course, with these new costs, will be $250 every two or three weeks.  I’m not sure how frequently she’s getting it.  She’s lively; she’s healthy.  She leaves from the chemo and goes out and shops.  She’s vibrant and she’s upbeat.  Yet, she said, I can’t pay that $250.  Now, in this situation there were other HMOs in Orange County that were not charging a copay for the chemo and we were able to get her switched.


SENATOR SPEIER:  And she was able to switch because up to now seniors—


MS. DANIELS:  Because she’s not end-stage renal disease.  Anybody other than end-stage renal disease can switch.


SENATOR SPEIER:  Can switch every month, except next year they’re starting a procedure whereby for the first six months you cannot change at all.


MS. DANIELS:  That might change, but that’s true.  That’s what we’re expecting.  But the problem with end-stage renal disease is that they cannot change, so they’re stuck wherever they are.


And this is from the barrio, where I was talking in the barrio.  Unfortunately, I realized that no one had ever heard of these changes.  They have HMOs but they hadn’t heard about the changes, so I was delivering the bad news.  And this is the lady that was saying, I’ll just take a pill and kill myself because I am not going to be forced to apply for Medi-Cal and lose my house.  My ancestors worked for ten cents an hour on the railroad to get that house, and we passed it on from generation to generation, and I am not going to do that.  I’ll take a pill and kill myself first.


This was her cousin.  I met with them for two weeks in a row at the bingo game at the center.  They were discussing taking pills, and they’re not sick.  That was the strange part.  These are not sick people.  These are seniors who are planning for the future:  This scares me so much that if I do become sick, I know what I’m going to do.


So, those were the problems, the questions.  And what I found, unfortunately, when I went into these centers, again, is that if you have low literacy, low-level readers in either Spanish or English, they have not read these booklets yet.  They’re waiting for their adult children to come and read the mail to them.  They don’t know that these changes are coming because they haven’t read the mail yet.  They may not be able to read in English or Spanish.  They’re waiting for their children to come and read the mail to them and tell them what to do.  They had no idea of the changes taking place in January, and they’re in these HMOs.  What I’m afraid of is, when they realize in January that the changes are taking place, when they go to the pharmacy or go someplace, it’s going to be too late to take advantage of some of these rays of hope that I’m going to be talking about.


SENATOR SPEIER:  Senator Soto?


SENATOR SOTO:  The problem is, too, that while a majority of our non-English-speaking citizens or residents are Spanish, there’s a lot of other languages.  They won’t be aware and they don’t understand.


MS. DANIELS:  They’re not aware.  I do the talks all the time, all week long.  The problem is, just because you speak Spanish and you receive the literature in Spanish, they may be illiterate in Spanish.  I used to teach ESL.  Many have a third grade education.  They can’t read in Spanish.  So, they’re waiting for their kids to come and visit and read the books to them.  


And this is another bingo game in a Spanish-speaking senior center where they had no idea of these things.


But there is a ray of hope and things are changing.  As I was making up these slides, things were changing.  It’s hard to keep up and really get a handle on it.  But I found out about a week and a half ago that there is new hope with getting out of an HMO and getting a Medigap supplement.  The background is that what was happening to this point, I was counseling a lot of seniors who had a Medigap supplement.  The HMO salesman came and enticed them to join the HMO and give up the supplement, saying, You’re going to have the same doctors, the same hospital, and the same benefits.  Why in the world are you paying for a supplement?  As far as I know, there’s no legislation to force them to divulge that they may never be able to get this supplement back again if they do this.  So, they give up the supplement, go into the HMO, and then the HMO changes the benefits, and they can’t go back and get a supplement again and they can never get out of the HMO system.


Last month I had a 93-year-old woman who had paid her Medigap supplement since she was 65 years old.  The HMO salesman said the same thing:  Got the same doctors, same hospital, give up the supplement, join the HMO.  She did that.  She stayed in for more than a year, which meant she could never get a guaranteed supplement again; and now she went back to Blue Cross to get the supplement and she cannot get it, after all those years of paying it, and she can’t get out of the HMO.


So, that was the problem until this point.  If you gave up the sup and have any prior condition now, you can’t go back and get out of the HMO and get the supplement.  At least there’s no guarantee under certain situations.


But, this is what I found out about a week and a half ago, that Secretary Thompson had created what he called an SEP, and that’s a Special Enrollment Period, and that’s running right now.  It means, as we understand it, is any HMO member can now leave an HMO right now, before December 31st, and be guaranteed a Medigap supplement under this SEP.  When I typed this three days ago, there were plans A, B, C, and F, which meant no drug coverage plans; but I just found out that H is also being offered, which would be $1,200 in drug coverage, I believe.


SENATOR SPEIER:  But not I and J?


MS. DANIELS:  No.  These are the only plans offered.  Just up to H will be $1,200.


SENATOR SOTO:  What period of time do you get the $1,200?


MS. DANIELS:  The rule is they have to get out of the HMO by December 31st and then they’ll have those sixty-three days to buy the supplement.  But the point is, the trigger is, they have to get out of the HMO by December 31st.  I just found out about this last week.  I know the people I talked to don’t know about this.  We’re talking about seniors who aren’t going to know that the changes in the HMOs have taken place until January, until they try to get the services.  This is not going to be available to them at that point.


DR. ASHCRAFT:  When was the letter written?


MS. DANIELS:  The letter?


DR. ASHCRAFT:  Could you tell me the date of his letter?


MS. DANIELS:  As far as I can understand, the SEP was created on June 14th.


DR. ASHCRAFT:  Six months ago.


MS. DANIELS:  But I think the SEP originally just spoke about the right to switch HMOs.  I don’t think it mentioned the guaranteed Medigap supplement.  Now, whether that was attached on June 14th I don’t know.  We’re trying to find out.  All these things we’re trying to find out.  Nothing’s clear at this point.


MR. ARNOLD:  May I interject?


SENATOR SPEIER:  Yes.  Mr. Arnold?


MR. ARNOLD:  Michael Arnold.  I just want to make sure no one leaves with any confusion.  I saw the release from CMS, I guess it was two days ago, where CMS is saying that they will make available Medigap coverage.  However, very, very importantly, that will apply, it’s my understanding, only to individuals who are above 65 years of age.  Many ESRD patients in California – and the ESRD patients are the ones that are—


SENATOR SPEIER:  End-stage renal disease.


MR. ARNOLD:  I’m sorry, it’s end-stage renal disease patients who are on dialysis the three or four times a week – are less than 65.  Those patients will not have the option of a Medigap plan that they can enter into, so they will be locked into the HMOs – the Medicare Plus plans that they entered into when the benefit structure was very, very different.  So, I’m quite concerned about those patients who are ESRD patients under the age of 65.


MS. DANIELS:  I don’t know if you have an update, but I also found out two days ago that it appeared that end-stage renal disease – we’re talking about the seniors – could switch now, as part of that, from one HMO to the other.  That’s part of this SEP which would give them a chance to leave an HMO that’s charging $50 or $25 for dialysis and switch to an HMO that isn’t charging this.  The only thing I’m afraid of is if they switch right now – let’s say there’s a mass exodus from one HMO to another – will the other HMO start charging copays?  Is that period still open?  I don’t know.


SENATOR SPEIER:  Actually, we’ll have a representative from CMS who can hopefully respond.  Get ready.


MS. DANIELS:  So, these are the problems.  Time:  Most seniors don’t know of these Medigap supplement rights, these switching HMO rights.  We have a few short weeks left and we’re going to go on vacation.  December 31st is coming.  I don’t know of anybody who has ever bought a policy from a Medigap supplement company under this new law, so we really need to know that they’re in line with this and they’re going to sell them.  Do they know about the law?  And the HMOs – are they aware of the law and will they allow end-stage renal disease to switch?


SENATOR SPEIER:  Ms. Daniels, what is the most important statement you can make to seniors about these Medigap insurance policies?


MS. DANIELS:  Well, for seniors who have the money, it’s a way to leave the HMO if they’re unhappy with it; if they don’t have high drug costs is the thing.  If they don’t have high drug costs, they can see any doctor they like, they can see any specialist they like – there are no gatekeepers – and this will be for them, if they have a prior condition, a once-in-a-lifetime chance to get out of the HMO.


SENATOR SPEIER:  I was leading you to an answer that you didn’t give me.  But I didn’t know this until fairly recently that all the Medigap policies are identical in what they offer.


MS. DANIELS:  Standardized.


SENATOR SPEIER:  They’re standardized.  If you’re getting an A policy or a J policy, it doesn’t matter who you go to, it’s going to have the exact same benefits, but they can charge any price they want.  So, it’s very important to comparison shop because the prices vary.  It’s not like a standard policy and a standard price.


MS. DANIELS:  We walk them through that.  Actually, we’ll take an hour or two to go over the plans and walk them through it.


So, those were the questions I had.  This is what I suggest:  We need time to work this all out.  We need time to do this complex counseling.  It’s taking longer and longer and longer.  And we’re also actually doing quite a lot of counseling on the SB 393 with the drug benefit.  During the last year, we got call after call after call about that benefit.  So, we’re moving now into counseling about drug benefits, and with the cutbacks in the HMOs, we’re really moving into drug counseling, which is something that we didn’t do before.


We need detailed answers on these copays.  It’s hard to counsel and compare nine or ten HMOs if you don’t have the copay information and then compare all those plans with all the standardized Medigap plans that are now available.  We need a lot of time for that.


SENATOR SPEIER:  You referenced the 393 program.  When we moved that bill through the Legislature and got the Governor to sign it, we didn’t put any money in it for media and for education; in part because it was new and we wanted to keep the costs of it down to next to nothing so that, in fact, it would get signed into law.  I regret that in the end we didn’t put some funding in it to get the word out to seniors.  But hearing you say that you’re hearing more and more from seniors on it, are you feeling that there’s some critical mass now, that we’ve gotten to a point where seniors truly know that that program exists in California?


MS. DANIELS:  They know.  Our phones ring off the hook with that question about How do I do this?  They think they have to get a Medi-Cal card.  There’s very much confusion about it, but they know that something out there exists, and then we walk them through it.  We even get calls from pharmacies, because again, it’s taking the pharmacists time to explain a lot of this.


SENATOR SPEIER:  Although, they’ve been informed three or four times through Department of Health Services that the program exists.


MS. DANIELS:  They know, but it’s taking their time to counsel the people walking up to the counter so they can refer them to us and we can counsel them.


And the other thing we’re doing now that we never did before – not in Orange County but in other areas – is talking about this redlining.  People are calling saying, Is this redlining? or Who can help us? etc., etc.  


And just to finish, I’d like to ask you the question that never stops when I go out anywhere:  “Who is going to do something to help us?”  This was just a recent meeting that I had in Anaheim Independencia, and they just look at me and say, Who is doing anything to change this?  Who is doing anything to help us?  And I say, Well, we are.  We’re doing what we can and HICAPs and CHA and other organizations.  But I would ask you to join your names to the list so that I can go back and tell them what’s being done to help them.  They’re desperate.


SENATOR SPEIER:  Ms. Daniels, thank you very much for your presentation.  I think you’ve put some flesh and bones on a lot of numbers, which I think is important for us all to hear.


We do have Barbara Weller who’s going to speak from CMS, but for her and for us, what are the things that should be done to provide some relief to this population with the new changes that have taken place?


MS. DANIELS:  We need time most of all.  We need to figure out what’s happening.  We need time to figure out what actually is taking place.  We don’t really have the real details about what is taking place, first of all.  We know that there are changes and we know that there are copays, but when you’re counseling an individual person and they’re saying, How much will I have to pay?  I have to plan for my life in January, you can’t figure that out right now with the information that we have.  We need more detailed information.  At that point we can then begin to look at the options.  But when I hear somebody say, I think I’ll have to pay anywhere between $1,500 and $3,000, I know that they don’t have the type figures either.  We have to have that information to be able to counsel people.


SENATOR SPEIER:  And the plans, it appears, even with the changes that they’ve made to their Medicare Plus Choice programs, don’t have the answers.  It took you how long to get to the right answer?  And you still didn’t get the right answer.


MS. DANIELS:  Weeks.


SENATOR SPEIER:  Extending this SEP would also be helpful, would it not?


MS. DANIELS:  Oh, any extension.  Yes, the Medigap situation is a wonderful opportunity, a once-in-a-lifetime opportunity, but if you take a lot of drugs, it’s not going to help you.  It’s not going to be an option.


SENATOR SPEIER:  Because of the $1,200 cap?


MS. DANIELS:  Because of the cap.


SENATOR SPEIER:  Don’t some of the other programs have higher caps?


MS. DANIELS:  The J has about $3,000 but then there’s a $250 deductible, and there are all kinds of other things good on there.  But there is no plan that if you take a lot of drugs that you can really buy that’s going to cover that.  It’s going to have to be Medi-Cal or something else.


SENATOR SPEIER:  Senator Soto.


SENATOR SOTO:  Is there a time limit, like $1,200 for how long?


MS. DANIELS:  A year.  That’s why it’s not available to people who really have major drug benefit.


SENATOR SOTO:  May I make a comment on that?


SENATOR SPEIER:  Senator Soto.


SENATOR SOTO:  I was out of the room when you were making the presentation on the chemo, but I just want to tell my experience.  I probably have told Senator Speier this.  When my husband was on chemo, the cost of the pill that they asked him to take for whatever time it was, I would have had to pay for a hundred pills, a dollar a pill, it would have been $1,600.  And he had to have that; otherwise, he couldn’t continue the chemo because that was part of it, and he had to have it within twenty-four hours of the last chemo treatment.  They weren’t going to do it, but they hadn’t dealt with me.  By the time the twenty-four hours were up, the pharmacist was so sympathetic, he said, I don’t care if I lose my job, you’re going to get these pills, because I had screamed so loud.  My husband was terminal, and yet, this thing was going to help him live longer.  


But that’s how much it was for those little pills.  It was $1,600 for the amount of pills that I was supposed to give him that would only last two or three weeks.  I don’t remember now how many pills it was, but that’s an example.  And I was ready to pay it if I had to.  I was working and I could afford it.  For a while I could have done it but not constantly.  But what about these other people?


SENATOR SPEIER:  All right.  So, extending the time, extending the SEP for a period of time.  What do we do with end-stage renal disease patients under 65?


MS. DANIELS:  I hadn’t heard of that differentiation.  See, the problem is, again, we need the time to get this information so that we understand it.  What I read said all Medicare HMO.  Now that I’m thinking about it, it was referring to all Medicare HMO beneficiaries.  The form I read didn’t say that.  It said all Medicare HMO beneficiaries.  That would mean under 65 also, because we counsel disabled.  Again, we need the time to find out where is the paperwork and what does it say?


SENATOR SPEIER:  If the status quo is just retained, what is your prediction in terms of what happens to the healthcare of these seniors?


MS. DANIELS:  There is a disaster looming on the horizon.  I think some people will decide that, for whatever reason, they don’t want to apply; possibly, they could get Medi-Cal but are refusing because of the fear of the house.  They will stay in the HMO and just not go in for treatment because of the copays.


SENATOR SPEIER:  And how many HICAPs are there in California now?


MS. DANIELS:  Twenty-four.


SENATOR SPEIER:  Twenty-four, and you’re listed in the telephone directories?


MS. DANIELS:  Yes.  For instance, the woman from Palm Springs.  I could refer her to her local HICAP and we can explain to her.  There is much confusion about Medi-Cal, Medicare, how it works.  And you will have people who aren’t taking advantage.  I’m finding a lot of people who have HMOs and they have Medicare and Medi-Cal.  They have no idea when they hit the cap of drugs on the HMOs that they can then go and get it from Medi-Cal but it might be a different pharmacy.  No one’s explained that to them, so they’ve gone for maybe a year paying for their own drugs.  They have Medi-Cal.


SENATOR SPEIER:  Although, 85 percent of the pharmacies in California are Medi-Cal pharmacies; so, for the most part, they shouldn’t even have to change pharmacies.


MS. DANIELS:  That doesn’t automatically kick over.


SENATOR SPEIER:  Is that something the state should do then?


MS. DANIELS:  What I’m finding is I’m finding a new glitch where, when you reach your cap – that’s your Medicare benefit under the HMO – when you reach your drug cap and you’re in that pharmacy and the pharmacy knows that you have Medi-Cal, I’m having people turned away saying that the pharmacy needs a letter stating that you’ve reached your cap before they can start tapping into the Medi-Cal drug benefit.


SENATOR SPEIER:  Who needs the letter?


MS. DANIELS:  The pharmacy needs a letter from the HMO, I guess.  It’s something new that just came up.  They can’t just automatically take your word or, I don’t know, their own calculations, that now we can charge Medi-Cal, because probably Medi-Cal will say, “Did you use up the Medicare benefit?”  So anyway, now there’s a glitch with this letter of where do you get the letter? who’s going to write the letter? and that kind of thing.  That’s a problem.


SENATOR SPEIER:  Okay.  Thank you very much.  Any other questions?


All right, our next speaker is Barbara Weller from the Center for Medicare and Medicaid Services Oversight, and she is in charge of Medicare Managed Risk.


Good morning.


MS. BARBARA WELLER:  Good morning.  


I’m not sure where I should start, if you want me to address some of what was just stated.  I could do that first.


SENATOR SPEIER:  Why don’t you go through your comments and then we’ll get to those.


MS. WELLER:  Okay.


What I was told you wanted me to do today was to walk through our partial county policy – what we did this year.  I kind of wanted to go through a little background on that partial county policy.  We’ve always had a partial county policy.  This was not something new.  It’s always existed.  We’ve always had health plans that have only been in partial counties.  I’ve been with the managed care program for about nine years now, and we often approved health plan service areas that were partial counties.  They weren’t necessarily full counties.  There has been a push to have plans go into full counties versus a partial, but we have always had that policy.  What changed this year is we expanded the policy.


SENATOR SPEIER:  Okay, but I’m reading from one of your documents, and it says, “We will adhere to the county integrity rule in most cases, but there are exceptions that may be approved.”


MS. WELLER:  Right.


SENATOR SPEIER:  Your general rule was that there was county integrity in programs.


MS. WELLER:  Yes.  That was the general rule.  I mean, it shifted and that’s why I was trying to give you some of the background.  When I first started working in the managed care area, we were allowing applicants who were coming in – and, of course, nine years ago is when a lot of these applications were coming in – where plans were asking for partial counties.  One of the reasons being is we have some large counties, not just here in California but in Arizona, Nevada, the region I deal with.  You have these huge counties with large Indian reservations that made no sense for them to include the Indian reservation because they couldn’t serve those people.  So, that’s just kind of giving you some background.


The basic concept is to maintain the county integrity where possible, and we came out with the policy letter.  I think we sent your office one from, I believe, 1999, when we finally put it in writing what our policy was on this issue and what a plan would have to submit.


Normally, ACRs are submitted in July of every year.  This year we pushed back that date to September 17th.  In addition, plans had always had to tell us if they wanted to go into partial counties by, I think, it was May 15th.  Obviously, we pushed that date.  A letter went out June 14th to the plans explaining the impact that moving the ACR date to September 17th would have on various things.


SENATOR JOHNSON:  What’s ACR?


MS. WELLER:  What is ACR?  ACR is the health plans’ benefit proposal.  It’s the accounting information that they submit to CMS every year that outlines what their benefits will be for the following contract year.  And ACR – I can never remember our own acronyms – I think it’s—


SENATOR SPEIER:  That’s a good reason to get rid of them.


MS. WELLER:  I know.  Probably one of the plan people can define that since they are submitting that.  And I apologize, but I can’t – we do have a lot of acronyms.


So, in that letter of June 14th, we explained to the plans that they would have to submit their partial county requests to us by August 15th.  That’s so that we have some time to look through those and either approve them or deny them, because what we do on those impacts what they’re going to submit in their ACR that was due September 17th.


SENATOR JOHNSON:  How does that work?  What kinds of information do they have to provide before you would grant such an approval?


MS. WELLER:  I’m going to go through that because that’s what I was asked to do.  So, if I could just continue on, I can go through what they need to provide to us.  But I kind of want to go through the timeline and why our policy changed first, if that’s okay.


SENATOR JOHNSON:  Fine.


MS. WELLER:  We did have one plan that submitted a request for a partial county in May, early, at the first date.  They wanted to get our read on it because they knew what they were submitting would not be approved by us based on the old policy.  We spent several months going through what they – and when I say “we,” this is a national program and “we” means our Central Office staff as well.  The regions do get involved in discussions when it involves our region or involves a change in policy.  So, we were involved in this discussion with Central Office in what were we going to do with this particular service area reduction request for partial counties because what the plan was saying is, If you don’t grant it to us, we will pull out of all these counties.  This was in California and it would have affected over 100,000 Medicare beneficiaries for that one plan alone.


So, we took this very seriously to look at—


SENATOR SPEIER:  Senator Johnson has a comment.


SENATOR JOHNSON:  That’s really why I was asking the earlier question:  Is a part of the process that you go through in granting the approval to consider what the alternatives are – specifically, “Look, if we can’t represent our offer or product in these zip codes within this county, we’re going to be forced to withdraw from the county as a whole” – is that a part of the approval process?


MS. WELLER:  That was a part of our process, yes.


SENATOR JOHNSON:  Thank you.


MS. WELLER:  In coming up with the change in the policy.


SENATOR JOHNSON:  You changed the policy, although you said you’ve always allowed for something less than an entire county – always.  Now in a sense, you’ve clarified that policy and you’re explaining and going through the approval process that you go through.  Now, separate and apart from the fact you’ve modified or clarified the policy, an individual plan, when they’re seeking approval with these new deadlines that you’ve enumerated, is that a part of the consideration?  Not just in what the overall policy but how we react to this particular application:  If we don’t go with the partial county, go with the zip code application, they’re likely to withdraw from the county entirely and that will mean even more dislocation to plan members.


MS. WELLER:  No.  Once we set what the policy was going to be, they had to meet the requirements of that policy.  If they did not meet the requirements and they told us that they would pull out of the county if we didn’t allow it, then we did not consider that.  We denied their request and it was up to them whether or not they wanted to carry through with that.  


Did that answer your question?


SENATOR JOHNSON:  Yes, it answers the question.  It’s not a particularly logical answer.  I mean, how you can make a decision like that, irrespective of what the consequences of denying the application are?  It doesn’t seem to make a whole lot of sense to me.  And if we’re interested, and you’re interested, and our federal government is interested in helping the most people and minimizing dislocation, it seems to me that’s a perfectly logical component of the decision-making process on a case-by-case basis:  If we do this – we allow them to withdraw from a number of zip codes in Senator Speier’s district – it’s going to dislocate this number of people.  They’re going to be forced to change plans, or maybe they’ll be left without a plan, versus if we don’t, maybe the entirety of San Mateo County is left with no options.  


So, I’m just sort of surprised that that wouldn’t be a part of the decision-making process of whether to approve an application or not.


SENATOR SPEIER:  Well, I’ll give you a slightly different perspective.  I would suggest – and we actually contemplated this in the Legislature at one point – everyone wants to make money; no question about it.  There are HMOs in California right now that are making money off of Medicare, and it appears that most of them are located in L.A. County where they’re not charging additional copays or premiums.  They’re getting paid $670, or thereabouts, per month, per enrollee, and they’re making money.  And that’s what this is really all about.  Most of these HMOs are for-profit institutions.


So, if we are creating an environment where they can pull out of a county, they can threaten to pull out of a county if you don’t give them the most cost-effective component, then they will pull out.  So, I would want us to look at something – it’s called “cherry picking” – and we don’t allow it in many other industries and we don’t allow it, sensibly, in auto insurance or in banking for loans.  If you want to do business with CMS – it would be a different approach from Senator Johnson – if you want to do business with CMS, if you want to make that money off of those enrollees in Los Angeles, then you’re going to have to provide healthcare to a broader universe and have some cost-sharing here.  You can’t just make money off of the taxpayers of this country.  That’s not what this is about.  This is about providing healthcare.  That’s a different approach.


Okay, go ahead.


MS. WELLER:  So, anyway, we did take into consideration the fact that this plan did say and we were getting comments from other health plans saying that they would pull out if we didn’t change our partial county policy.  So, there were months of discussion, primarily in Central Office.  It went to the administrator and the policy was changed, and that’s what you see in the August 15th revision of our OPL that was sent out.  The main concern the health plans were raising with CMS was the fact that it was getting so difficult to contract with providers at rates that would continue to make a profit for them and be able to provide the services that they are required to provide to Medicare beneficiaries.  We reimburse the health plans for providing the basic Medicare benefits.  Anything else that they offer is up to them.


This OPL, although it’s dated August 15th, from what I saw we actually mailed it to the health plans on August 17th, and we gave them until August 24th to send in their requests.  So, it went out after their deadline, but they didn’t know what we were going to request.  They had to wait until they saw what the changes were in the OPL.  They submitted their requests for a partial county, and they submitted them to us by August 24th.


SENATOR SPEIER:  So, they could have made mistakes is what you’re saying.  I mean, it was a short period of time in which they had to respond and give you a partial county.


MS. WELLER:  Well, I think they knew where they wanted to request the partial county.  What they did not know is what CMS was going to require them to submit.


SENATOR SPEIER:  But that all had to be submitted by August 24th, you’re saying.  They had a short period of time in which to do it.


MS. WELLER:  They had a week.


SENATOR SPEIER:  All right.  Tell us what it is you asked them.


MS. WELLER:  I think what we asked them to submit – and these are kind of examples of things that they could submit to show that they were having problems with the contracting – we asked for health cost information for the affected area, both the part that they wanted to pull out of and the part they wanted to stay in, and we asked for demographic information. 


We did not get all that information.  On the health costs, it was very difficult for them to submit in that short period of time.  Same with the demographic information.  In CMS they do have the demographic information and we pulled our own demographic information.


These were then reviewed by a committee.  Just for your information, there were twenty counties across the nation involved in partial county requests.  They were submitted by ten different M-plus-C organizations, but there was only twenty of these nationwide.


SENATOR SPEIER:  And how many in California?


MS. WELLER:  In California there were, I believe, fourteen.  Yes, the bulk of them were in California, one in Arizona, and then there were five others primarily on the East Coast.


SENATOR SPEIER:  Let me diverge for a minute and ask you this.  From a global perspective nationwide at CMS, is there a recognition that when you do things to Medicare Plus Choice you’re doing it mostly to California?


MS. WELLER:  I’m not real sure that that’s taken into consideration.  Obviously, working in the San Francisco regional office, we recognize that anything that happens does have a large impact on this state and in this region because Arizona and Nevada also have very high numbers of penetration rate of enrollees in managed care plans.  Not the numbers but the percentages are just as high as in California.


SENATOR SPEIER:  So, they didn’t submit all the information, but of the twenty counties, how many did you grant?


MS. WELLER:  I believe two were withdrawn before the process was over.  What we did, because we weren’t getting all the information that we felt we needed, we did end up talking to a lot of these health plans over the phone, getting additional information – the committee.  What we have, we call them “product consistency teams,” and they’re comprised of regional office representation.  We have ten regional offices across the country, and I think we had four representatives on that from the various regions and then Central Office participants.  They were meeting on a daily basis.  As we were getting the requests in, the team would have a conference call.  Materials were faxed to everybody so everyone had the information.  The demographic information was pulled.  We went through an analysis of what was being requested – did it make sense? did it fit into our policy?


SENATOR SPEIER:  How many were denied?


MS. WELLER:  I believe one was denied.


SENATOR SPEIER:  One was denied out of eighteen.


MS. WELLER:  Right.


SENATOR SPEIER:  So, all the ones in California, were they all—?


MS. WELLER:  Well, two of them were withdrawn in California.  I’m sorry, I don’t remember offhand where the one was.  I don’t think it was in California.


SENATOR SPEIER:  So then, there were twelve in California and all twelve were granted.


In the guidelines that you provide in terms of trying to address the issue of redlining, you require that “The proposed exception does not discriminate against certain groups of Medicare beneficiaries … that the exception is consistent with the community pattern of care … for example, geographic features such as mountain barriers … and that the Medicare Plus Choice organization could not establish a provider network to make healthcare services available and accessible to beneficiaries residing in the excluded portion of the county.”


Now, what it appears you hang your hat on is, if the healthcare costs are the same with the two regions within a county – first you want to establish that so that they are not, in effect, trying to take out all the end-stage renal disease patients, for instance – that you look at the healthcare costs and then you look at the negotiations.  It’s the cost of negotiating with the provider that triggers whether or not you’ll go to partial county.


MS. WELLER:  It’s this lack of a provider network that is triggering them to go to a partial county.


(Tape turned – portion of text missing) … particular provider group and a large section of the county is not going to be served.


SENATOR SPEIER:  Okay, so how do you really determine that?  They say, We tried to negotiate with this medical group and we couldn’t come to a resolution, so we have no network.


MS. WELLER:  I know, and that’s a very difficult area to get into.  Obviously, we cannot get involved in their negotiations.  So, part of it is you hear from the community; I mean, a lot of what we see in the press.  We knew that there was a problem with Sutter Health that was affecting Health Net’s network and if they didn’t come to terms with them that we would have problems.  That was in the paper.  That’s one way we find out whether or not there’s some validity to their statement.


SENATOR SPEIER:  So that’s how you find out.  It’s not like you require them to show you their proposal that they gave to the medical group to see whether or not that community’s standards were—


MS. WELLER:  Well, like I said, we’re not going to get engaged and involved with their negotiations.  We had long discussions about what we would require of them to show to us.  We do ask for what efforts they made to contract, but we do not require them to show us their contracts.  And the fact that they showed it to us still wasn’t going to necessarily tell us that they actually submitted that to Sutter.  I mean, there’s a certain amount of trust you have to have here, and it is a difficult area to get into.


SENATOR SPEIER:  Well, if I were an HMO executive right now hearing this and I wanted to get rid of all the end-stage renal disease cases that were costing my particular plan a lot of money – and there are cases where plans are paying huge costs for particular patients, and they want to get rid of that kind of loss leader, so to 

speak – I could make a case real easy:  Let’s carve out this zip code and that’ll take care of that patient.  That’ll stop the hemorrhaging we’re having relative to that one patient cost.  So we’ll take that zip code and maybe a few other zip codes and we’ll low-ball a contract to a medical group, and we won’t have a network, and we’ll be out of there.


Now, I could foresee that happening real easy.


MS. WELLER:  For here in California, these issues didn’t just suddenly appear on August 24th when they submitted their requests.  A lot of these plans that submitted these requests, we were well aware of what the problems were.  We had met with some of these medical groups in the past.  I don’t want to say that we really didn’t have any knowledge of these.  I know, for instance, in Santa Barbara County, we had worked with Blue Cross very closely for months on their provider network problems and had discussed this with some of the medical groups.  When their requests came in, we knew why it was there.  They could not resolve it.  They did not have a network, and they weren’t able to provide services.  


The same with Butte County.  PacifiCare had actually wanted to pull out of Butte County last year.  We asked them to remain in, and what we got back from beneficiaries was How could you do that?  We can’t get Medigap.  So, there’s kind of two sides to this story too.  In some cases these beneficiaries want us to make these plans pull out if they don’t have an adequate network.  And in Butte County, PacifiCare again was having contract problems with a provider group in Oroville and it was not getting resolved.


SENATOR SPEIER:  But these are the same HMOs that will have that network for their commercial patients but all of a sudden don’t have that network for the Medicare patients.


MS. WELLER:  In some cases they also do not have it for the commercial patients either.


SENATOR SPEIER:  Well, that’s a different scenario.  But in a scenario where they do have it for commercial, all of a sudden they’ll have it for Medicare.  I mean, I would think that would create some suspicion.


MS. WELLER:  Again, going back nine years of doing this job, this is not unusual.  This has always been an issue with a lot of the provider groups of whether or not they’ll contract on the Medicare side.  It’s surprising.  I don’t fully understand what all the issues are there, but this is not a new issue with provider groups not wanting the contract on the Medicare side.


We have this in Arizona.  There are physicians there that absolutely refuse to contract with any Medicare HMO.  They refuse.  And we have beneficiaries that send us petitions saying, Why can’t we have a Medicare Plus Choice plan in our county?  Their physicians absolutely refuse.  At any price.


SENATOR SPEIER:  If an HMO leaves a county, or a zip code, how long must they wait before they can return?


MS. WELLER:  They can come in right now, and our understanding is Health Net is coming back in for San Mateo County.


SENATOR SPEIER:  So, there is no rule.


MS. WELLER:  The rule applies to a full contract, nonrenewal.  So, if PacifiCare decided to nonrenew their Medicare Plus Choice contract in California that would affect every single county they were in, the law says they would not be able to come back in for three years.  But for service area reductions, there is no such requirement.  If a plan wants to come back in, we will do all we can to get that expedited and get that plan back up and running in that area.


SENATOR SPEIER:  Okay.  Senator Johnson.


SENATOR JOHNSON:  Just a quick question.  I’m trying to follow all of this.  It’s a lot of information.


You say it’s always been the policy to allow for something less than a complete county.


MS. WELLER:  Highly discouraged, but yes.


SENATOR JOHNSON:  Beg pardon?


MS. WELLER:  Highly discouraged though.  We do want the county integrity wherever possible.


SENATOR JOHNSON:  Okay.  Everything we’ve heard so far has referred to zip codes.  Is that the fundamental building block of coverage then – is the zip code?


MS. WELLER:  The fundamental building block we would prefer is the county level versus the zip code level.  But zip codes, yes; within a county it’s zip codes.


SENATOR JOHNSON:  If you’re going to allow for something less than a county, then that would be a zip code or combination of zip codes.


MS. WELLER:  That’s correct.


SENATOR JOHNSON:  How do zip codes differ around the country in terms of size?  And please excuse my ignorance on this.


SENATOR SPEIER:  Mine too.  Probably like reapportionment.  (Laughter.)


SENATOR JOHNSON:  That I’d know something about.


Do you have any idea of how zip codes around the country are constructed and how they’re sized?  Is there some consistency geographically or populationwise for zip codes?


MS. WELLER:  I think you’d have to ask the Postal Service who, I think, does that.  My understanding is it has something to do with the size of the population, because when you look at some of your rural counties, the zip codes are very huge.  Where you get into urban areas, you have very small.


SENATOR JOHNSON:  But the real question is:  Are zip codes based on a total number of postal customers within a zip code, or are they based on geography, or are they based on a combination?  Are they like census tracks that can vary rather substantially?


MS. WELLER:  I can’t answer that question. 


SENATOR JOHNSON:  I’m trying to evaluate whether the scenario that the chairperson laid down a little while ago – if I were an HMO executive and I could use this partial county to get rid of a​ patient that was proving to be too big of a drain – to analyze whether that is “black helicopter” kind of stuff or if it has any basis in reality.  Got to ask these kinds of threshold questions:  How big is a zip code?  How many people are in it?  How many patients or members would that involve for a typical HMO?  And it would seem to me that in creating this policy, maybe it would have been a good idea to pick up the phone and call the Postal Service and ask them if you’re going to have it based on that.  That’s what I understood your answer to be.


MS. WELLER:  It’s based on that because it’s a defined geographic area.


SENATOR JOHNSON:  So it can be something other than a zip code.


MS. WELLER:  No.  We use zip codes because it defines a geographic area.


SENATOR SPEIER:  But what if you used – excuse me, Senator – what if you used a geometric formula around hospitals, for instance:  within fifteen minutes or thirty miles? which is what we have as part of the Department of Managed Health Care.


MS. WELLER:  Well, you’re looking at access-to-care rules.


SENATOR SPEIER:  Well, that, in part, can give you a good idea of the likelihood of being able to serve that—


MS. WELLER:  The reason we use zip codes is because, when a Medicare beneficiary enrolls with a health plan, we need to know whether or not they live in the service area.  And how are you going to define the service area if you don’t have something that’s identifiable?  Using your scenario of saying ten to fifteen miles,  I don’t know that our systems are sophisticated enough to pinpoint an address and whether or not it’s within that range.


SENATOR JOHNSON:  I don’t want to be rude, but I think we can pretty well presume that your systems aren’t that sophisticated.


MS. WELLER:  I think that’s been testified to by others.


SENATOR JOHNSON:  If you can’t tell me how many postal customers there are in a typical zip code, I would say you’ve just grabbed ahold of something and that may be the right something.  Again, as I said earlier, I don’t have a dog in this fight; I’m not coming down on one side or the other.  But it would seem to me that if you’re going to create that kind of methodology, that commonsense would dictate that you’d know the answer of how many people and how large typically they are and so on in a zip code.


MS. WELLER:  I hope that none of us are in a fight here.  I think we’re all trying to understand what’s going on, and we’re trying to work together.


SENATOR SPEIER:  This particular map of this one county that shows the two white areas that appear to be the two areas that continue to have the benefit of at least three, maybe more, HMOs to pick from – how likely is that to be the case?  Do you think this is an error?


MS. WELLER:  The white areas?  I think there’s probably no people there.  Those are probably mountains or something.  If it was based on population, which I’m not sure, that might account for those white areas.  I’m not really sure.  I mean, I’d have to look.


Those counties that are being shown—


SENATOR SPEIER:  San Joaquin, Alameda, and Contra Costa.


MS. WELLER:  I’m not aware that any of those are – in the past were partial counties.  I can’t explain it, so I really don’t know without knowing how they pulled the data for that.


SENATOR SPEIER:  All right.  How about some of the questions that were raised by some of the previous speakers?  Can you respond to some of that?  For instance, the extension of the SEP.  What is the likelihood of that happening?


MS. WELLER:  On the SEP, we just found out about that last week ourselves; “we” being the regents.  The health plans have been notified of this.  It’s for the month of December and it allows anyone disenrolled during the month of December to select a Medigap – you know, be guaranteed issued a Medigap policy, the ones that Wen showed.  The state of California has its own Medigap laws here too, and I think we respect those laws, and I think that includes any of the prescription drugs – Medigap policies are also guaranteed; it’s your H, I, or J – will be included with that.


SENATOR SPEIER:  They would be included.


MS. WELLER:  It would be included.


SENATOR SPEIER:  If the Legislature chose to write a letter to the Secretary urging him to continue the SEP for three months, would that be productive?


MS. WELLER:  I’m not sure.  A number of people have raised that question – Can we carry it over to January? – when it went through the problems.  We have no time.  We’re in December, people don’t know.  We did not tell people about this.  What about the people that disenrolled in November?  What can we do about them?  I think we’ve even suggested, and we did send a letter to the plans on Friday about this, they are to include language in their disenrollment letters to members who disenroll that they have this right to guaranteed issue.  It’s a very short paragraph and it just gives them a 1-800 number or the HICAP number or SHIP number in the rest of the country.  


We don’t have a lot of time on this.  We also, I think, are suggesting that plans may want to contact their members that might have disenrolled in November and see if they don’t want to withdraw that disenrollment and disenroll for December.  We’re trying to look at different ways.  How do we get this information out to everybody?  It’s a very short time frame.  


In answer to your question, I don’t think a letter could hurt.


SENATOR SPEIER:  All right.  What is the role of a state department that has oversight over HMOs as it relates to Medicare enrollees who are in HMOs?  What is CMS’ position?


MS. WELLER:  Well, we actually work with the state very closely, with DMHC, on a lot of issues, because there is a lot of commonality in what we do.  There are certain federal preemptions such as for the benefit package.  Our appeals process.


SENATOR SPEIER:  What do you mean about the benefits package?


MS. WELLER:  What’s in our benefit package.  The state can’t dictate what’s in those packages is what I mean.


SENATOR SPEIER:  Okay.


MS. WELLER:  For the Medicare product.  


I’m trying to think offhand.  There are a number of things.  But we do work with them.  We’ve done some training with them; they’ve done training with us.  We understand each other’s programs, because obviously, they’re dealing with our members, as we get calls from commercial members.  So, we kind of need to know each other’s programs.  We’ve worked with their quality people.  I know we’ve gone on site visits with them when they’ve gone to an HMO and they have come with us.


SENATOR SPEIER:  You’re saying a particular HMO can go back into a particular area.


MS. WELLER:  Yes.


SENATOR SPEIER:  Now, in this state, the Department of Managed Health Care would have some jurisdiction over whether or not they—


MS. WELLER:  I believe they look at that product, yes.  They have to file with the state.


SENATOR SPEIER:  And have to meet certain standards from the state’s perspective.


MS. WELLER:  Right.


SENATOR SPEIER:  So, the state would continue to have the authority to assert relative to—


MS. WELLER:  It’s my understanding they still have that authority.  


SENATOR SPEIER:  Relative to the Medicare products.


MS. WELLER:  Right.  And they have the financial review.  We do minimal financial review on these plans.


SENATOR SPEIER:  And you see the state as having that responsibility in doing that.


MS. WELLER:  Yes.  Because we’ve had a couple of health plans – one has already gone bankrupt and one’s been taken over by the state of our Medicare Plus Choice plans this year.


SENATOR SPEIER:  There was an issue recently where the Department of Managed Health Care filed an enforcement action against an HMO, fined that HMO, for a patient that was a Medicare patient but in their HMO here in California.  And there’s been a suit, I believe, that’s been filed against the department now saying that the department doesn’t have jurisdiction over—


MS. WELLER:  I think that was thrown out, though, by the judge.


SENATOR SPEIER:  So you no longer are asserting that then.


MS. WELLER:  We were never asserting that.  It was not us.


SENATOR SPEIER:  Ahh.  I’m sorry, okay.


MS. WELLER:  I believe that the health plans have had a number of lawsuits against the state, citing federal preemption.


SENATOR SPEIER:  So, from CMS’ perspective, you see it as a partnership of sorts; that jurisdiction can and should be asserted by the department over many of the areas, specifically financial viability.


MS. WELLER:  Right.


SENATOR SPEIER:  Quality of health care is something that you think is appropriate as well.


MS. WELLER:  Well, we both work on that one, but yes.


SENATOR SPEIER:  And about end-stage renal disease – can you speak to that and some of the issues that have been raised here today?


MS. WELLER:  I think with respect to the SEP, it’s not limited to people over 65.  It’s all Medicare beneficiaries, so that would include ESRD.


Part of the problem with the ESRD population, although they may get a guaranteed issue, there’s no one writing policies.  There’s no requirement that insurance companies write a Medigap policy for someone with ESRD.  And that’s my understanding what the real problem is.


With respect to insurance agents and department of insurances knowing about this SEP, CMS did send a letter to all of them across the nation saying, This is what’s happening.  You will write these policies on the guaranteed issue if you offer them.  We have A through J, whatever they are, these standard Medigap policies.  Insurance companies are not required to write policies on all of those.  They can pick and choose, and they can apparently pick and choose who they will write them for.


SENATOR SPEIER:  Now, at one point one of the HMOs in California was going to charge as much as $70 per dialysis visit as a copay.


MS. WELLER:  I think it was fifty, but yes.


SENATOR SPEIER:  Well, we had heard of one as high as seventy.  Regardless, if the senior was on Medicare only, the fee would be $135 that would be paid to the provider with a 20 percent copay by the senior – under a typical Medicare.  At least that’s what has been represented to me.  So, that would be about $27 that the senior would pay on Medicare only.


MS. WELLER:  Right.


SENATOR SPEIER:  I want to make sure that we’re never in a situation where a senior is paying more for a service in an HMO than they would be paying under simple Medicare.  Is there anything in the law that prevents that?


MS. WELLER:  Yes, I believe there is.  You probably are aware that a number of plans were talked to.  Their ACRs were not approved, and they were told that they needed to do some adjustments because of that issue.  CMS is very concerned about that also.  I don’t know if you’ve got a copy of Tom Scully’s testimony from last week at the hearing.  He testified before Congress on M-plus-C.  I’ll be happy to email it to you.  He also addresses that issue.  There is some formula they have.  There are certain areas where they could charge a little bit more than what would have been under Medicare originally, but they can’t be more than a certain amount.  I can’t get into the financial part about how all of this is calculated, but it is an issue that CMS is very concerned about and would not approve ACRs this year because a number of plans across the country, they felt, were charging unreasonable copays that were higher than what these people would pay under Medicare.


SENATOR SPEIER:  Would you then take enforcement action?  Or is that something where the state could take enforcement action?  I’m trying to see where you would make sure that that wasn’t happening.


MS. WELLER:  Again, every year they have to submit what their benefits are going to be.  They cannot change their benefits during the year.


SENATOR SPEIER:  They cannot change it.


MS. WELLER:  Well, I’ll take that back.  They can change them but only to enhance them, to make them better.  They cannot make them worse.  So, they can make them better, and they submit once a year – this year it was September 17th – and we have to approve them.  If they are not approved, they have no benefit package, they cannot market.


SENATOR SPEIER:  So, the benefit package includes what they would be charging as a copay.


MS. WELLER:  It includes everything, yes.


SENATOR SPEIER:  All right.  The chemotherapy at $250 a day.


MS. WELLER:  I was not aware that’s what they were charging.  That sounds high.  I don’t know what was done on that.  I did make a note of that one myself.


SENATOR SPEIER:  So, you don’t know what Medicare would normally pay a provider for chemotherapy.


MS. WELLER:  No.


SENATOR SPEIER:  Could you find that out for us and let us know?


MS. WELLER:  Sure.


SENATOR SPEIER:  There really is nowhere for end-stage renal disease people under the age of 65 to go.  They either stay in their HMO or return to Medicare.


MS. WELLER:  Or, I think, during the SEP they can sign up with another M-plus-C-O if there’s one offered that has better benefits in their area.  


SENATOR JOHNSON:  That’s new.


MS. WELLER:  That’s new for this December thing.  Or they can get a Medigap policy if one’s available.


SENATOR SPEIER:  And you’re not aware of any that do.


MS. WELLER:  I’m not aware of what’s available in the state of California.


SENATOR SPEIER:  All right.  So there may indeed be.


MS. WELLER:  There may be, yes.  I can’t say that they’re not.


SENATOR SPEIER:  All right.


MS. WELLER:  I did want to also address – I think there was some questions raised about what we call the “Medi-Medis”:  The people who are entitled to Medicare and Medical, which has always been very difficult to deal with because Medicare is primary.  If someone’s on Medi-Cal, we’ve always made a push – and I’ll make that push here – that the state should be paying.  The Medi-Cal program should be paying those copays, even though those people are in a Medicare HMO.  Last year was the first year we got the state to start paying the premiums for these Medi-Medi members.  And they were very restrictive.  It was only if an M-plus-C plan had brand-name drugs as part of their benefit package, Medi-Cal would pay the premium for those members.  And I think the same:  We would push that they could also pay those copays.


SENATOR SPEIER:  Talk to our Governor, huh?  


All right.  Are there any other questions?


SENATOR JOHNSON:  It was unclear, when you were talking about the process you went through last summer, clarifying or modified or whatever it was to the policy, you talked about some data that you had to utilize, data that you already had.


MS. WELLER:  We used demographic data that is available through the Census Bureau.  I’m not sure where we got it.  I didn’t bring the data with me, and I don’t really know offhand, but I think it was taken from the U.S. Census Bureau.


SENATOR JOHNSON:  (Inaudible.)


MS. WELLER:  You know, economic, ethnic, gender.  That type of data.


SENATOR JOHNSON:  I thought that’s what you were referring to.


MS. WELLER:  Yes, that’s what we’re talking about.


SENATOR JOHNSON:  And then, again, I’m confused why the fundamental building block would be zip codes as opposed to census tracks, where the information is directly translatable.


MS. WELLER:  We actually got that as zip codes too.  You can pull that data up from the Census Bureau by zip codes.


SENATOR JOHNSON:  Of course, that doesn’t speak to the market penetration in a given area, so you have to depend upon them for that.


MS. WELLER:  When you say “market penetration,” I’m not sure—


SENATOR JOHNSON:  In San Mateo County, in a given zip code, maybe my HMO that I became the executive of a little while ago, maybe that HMO has a lot of members and agreements in much of San Mateo County but in certain zip codes I don’t have anything.  Right?  So just looking at the demographics—


MS. WELLER:  I guess I’m not—


SENATOR JOHNSON:  Well, let’s just concede that either I don’t understand or you don’t understand.


SENATOR SPEIER:  I guess my concern is that I’m nervous about your use of zip coding, I’m nervous of the partial county phenomenon, and I would hope that you would work with our Department of Managed Health Care to the extent that we can provide you information about their familiarity with negotiations that are going on with plans and providers and have a better sense of what’s happening to make sure that the use of zip coding isn’t having the effect of cutting out people who are in poor health, maybe living all in a certain area, and who may be of a particular ethnic background.  I think that can become very serious, very painful, very destructive in terms of CMS’ function.


MS. WELLER:  And we are, yes, and we’re more than happy to work with your local.


SENATOR JOHNSON:  The chairperson and I are coming at this from a somewhat different perspective.  I mean, I think doing less than a county may make perfect sense and that we ought not to discourage that.  If the result is that you wind up taking coverage away from everybody in a county, my questions are aimed only at trying to understand the methodology that’s used to determine how we do less than a county.  It sounds like what you’ve said here this morning is that you took that into consideration in creating the policy, but it also sounds to me like there’s not much attention being paid to that in the evaluation of individual requests.


Is that unfair?


MS. WELLER:  You mean individual requests from the plans.


SENATOR JOHNSON:  From the plans.


MS. WELLER:  On what they were.


SENATOR JOHNSON:  That’s correct.


MS. WELLER:  Because we were also very concerned about redlining, that, I think, was a major concern when we created this new policy – was what can we do to make sure that the plans don’t try and carve out areas that are not beneficial to them?  Like I said, this was the first year of this change in policy.  We’re definitely going to look at it and see what the results are from it, but we also felt we were also dealing with another bigger issue of having total county withdrawals, which we didn’t want either.  


So, it’s kind of a balancing act as to which way we go.  Unfortunately, we tend to be reacting more than being able to really plan things out.  I think what we did this year on the whole worked out okay, and we definitely are going to hold the plans to this new policy and will require them to provide the information.  We will not provide the information; you know, use our own information.  We will ask them to provide the information to us, and we may even revise some of our requirements.  But it was our first year with the new policy.


SENATOR SPEIER:  We’re going to ask you to stay, if you would, at the panel because there may be questions that we will want to ask you as the next group appears.  Is that all right?


MS. WELLER:  So you want me to stay here?


SENATOR SPEIER:  Yes.


MS. WELLER:  Okay.


SENATOR JOHNSON:  I’d just say, too, thank you very much.  We appreciate your coming.  I guess it is kind of an unprecedented thing around here in a state legislative hearing.  Thank you.


SENATOR SPEIER:  All right.  We’re next going to hear from the HMOs.  So, Mr. Wehrle, representing the California Association of Health Plans; Nancy Monk from PacifiCare; Tina Manning from Secure Horizons; David Friedman from Health Net; and Denise Hanson from Kaiser Permanente.


Mr. Wehrle has show and tell, I see.  You’re taking one of my techniques.  


Would you like to begin?


MR. BILL WEHRLE:  Good morning, Madam Chair and Senator Johnson.  Bill Wehrle with the California Association of Health Plans.


As you all are probably aware, the Medicare program, the Medicare Plus Choice program, health plans are required to provide all of the services that are required under the Medicare program itself.  But they’re also, in effect, required to provide additional services in order to attract beneficiaries away from what would be their alternative, which is an open fee-for-service type system.  As you all know, the mainstay of the program has historically been coverage of prescription drug services.


Over the years, the program has evolved, starting back in 1995 – the federal TEFRA legislation – where rates were set at 95 percent of the fee-for-service equivalent.  In the Balanced Budget Act of 1997, Congress made a decision to move away from time rates to the fee-for-service equivalent in an area, and rates were capped at annual increases of 2 percent.  Then came the Balanced Budget Refinement Act of 1999 in which the situation was further refined to provide some amount of additional funding in some areas, depending upon their historical utilization of Medicare services and so forth, but, in effect, very little of that additional funding was made.


The reason I go through that is to describe for the members the financial reality that confronts health plans that are trying to participate in the Medicare program.  Simply put, they used to be able to do it.  Increasingly, it’s becoming more and more difficult to do.  And as your staff briefing document very accurately put it, as costs have increased and reimbursements have fallen, the cycle of benefit reductions and pullouts began, and it began nationally.


One point that I want members to consider, the last year that the federal government had a full budget surplus, and I believe that that was in 1998, it was about $200 billion, or thereabouts.  According to the CBO, 43 percent of that was attributable to cuts that had been made in the Medicare program in the prior year; 

43 percent of that $200 billion surplus.  That was the subject of extensive policy debate in Washington for years.  Frankly, you’re seeing the consequences of those cuts that were made.


SENATOR SPEIER:  Mr. Wehrle, let me just interrupt you for a minute.  Weren’t those cuts made as a result of a GAO study?  There was a study done that found that the costs in the Medicare system far exceeded what they should be – there was a lot of Medicare fraud – and as a result of that, I thought that was the genesis of the cuts being made to the Medicare program.


MR. WEHRLE:  There was some of that but there were also very substantial cuts in reimbursements to hospitals and to physicians.  The rate schedules were actually capped and that affected the fee-for-service equivalent.  And as I said, this two percent ceiling on reimbursements were put in place.  There was definitely a GAO study that did look at whether the benefits that were being provided under the prescription drug program on that led to a situation where the program was still being saved money.  But there wasn’t ever like an evaluation, at least that I know of, that looked at fraud or profits or that sort of thing.


SENATOR SPEIER:  Ms. Weller, are you familiar with that?


MS. WELLER:  I am not familiar with that, no.


SENATOR SPEIER:  All right.  Mr. Wehrle, why don’t you go ahead.


MR. WEHRLE:  This chart that we have – this enormous chart behind us here – is an attempt to show you in more or less simple terms what has happened over the last five years.  The bigger green bars in the front there are reimbursement rates for the Medicare Plus Choice program in California.  And this shows the cumulative percentage increase since – I believe it starts in 1998.  The black line is the cumulative percentage change in the Medicare fee-for-service program.  And you can see that they’re pretty close, although even that has gone up more.


The two other bars are for the same types of products:  HMO coverage in the PERS system and the Federal Employees Healthcare System.  And you can see that those two payers – the purple bar being our own PERS system and the blue bars being the federal program – their reimbursement rates over that five-year period – actually, the numbers that go with it – the federal program reimbursement rates have gone up 60 percent in five years.  Medicare Plus Choice funding has gone up 16 percent in the last five years.  That is the reality that health plans are confronted with across the country.


The other part of the equation that really gets to the specifics of what you’ve been talking about so far this morning – the pullouts in some regions – there’s what we take in and there’s the need to get people to provide services – hospitals and physicians.  We can’t obviously go into an area if we don’t have contracts with physicians.  And frankly, that is what explains the vast majority of the circumstances where plans have pulled out.  It’s because they’ve had difficulty, as the individual plans, I’m sure, will tell you about, in frankly having contracts.


The last thing is the regional variation.  In your county, because it’s been mentioned a couple of times today, the figure that I have for 1999 is an average reimbursement rate of about $470.  As you alluded to, in Los Angeles the comparable figure is $648.  Elsewhere in the Bay Area, in every county, it’s higher.  It’s higher than San Mateo.  San Mateo is by far the lowest reimbursement rate of any county in the region.  And the problem is that because there is this floor – I’m sorry, this 

ceiling – in place on how much reimbursement can increase, the differences have, in effect, become magnified over time.  That’s why health plans are able to operate in 

L.A. – potentially some health plans anyway – and not able to operate in San Mateo.


SENATOR SPEIER:  Although, San Francisco has a reimbursement rate of $600 and they’re down to, what? one or two.  They’re down to two now.


MR. WEHRLE:  The number I have for San Francisco, I’m not sure, is—


UNIDENTIFIED:  This is 2002 data.


MR. WEHRLE:  Okay, your data is more recent than mine.  In terms of scale, the number that I have for San Francisco is $547.  So, it’s still more than San Mateo.  I don’t have data that’s as recent as yours is.


SENATOR SPEIER:  Yes, they’re about $50 difference.


MR. WEHRLE:  That’s a lot of money when it’s multiplied over all of the Medicare recipients.


SENATOR SPEIER:  But the difference though is that in San Francisco, you’re getting reimbursed at $600 an enrollee, but they’re also paying a copay and a premium; whereas, they’re not paying that in Los Angeles.  Arguably, you take that $600 fee, you add the $80 that is now the premium plus whatever copays, you’re up to $694 but the healthcare benefits are much less.


MR. WEHRLE:  And the answer to that is being able to get what people are willing to contract with you to do business at.  It goes to what plans are paying out on the other end.  


SENATOR SPEIER:  To that point – Ms. Weller, the differential that exists in California in what is reimbursed per area clearly has an effect on the kind of quality of healthcare.  If you’re a senior in California, I’d recommend you live in L.A.  I’d have you all move to L.A. because that’s the only way you’re going to get decent healthcare right now if you want to stay in an HMO, or you go to Kaiser where they’re still continuing to provide the package of services; although they do have a premium each month.


So, why the differential, and are we ever going to relook at that?


MS. WELLER:  They’re looking at it continually.  I think we were going with encounter data to try and come up with a better assessment of what healthcare is costing.  Under the old formula years ago it was based on what we paid on the Medicare fee-for-service side.  There’s now been adjustments to that formula, but you still end up with these large differences from counties to counties that I’m not sure anyone can really explain why they exist.  I mean, one reason, I think, was because in your larger cities you have a lot more of the more expensive healthcare being taken care of – your transplants and those type of things – which can inflate those costs, even though the people that are going there for those services may live in other counties.  So, it’s the services being provided in a particular county that we’re affecting.


So, in answer to your question, they’re looking at it.  Encounter data was one thought.  I’m not sure where we’re going with that, but that’s how they’re proceeding right now.


SENATOR SPEIER:  Well, let me make a suggestion.  You look at huge metropolitan areas.  Let’s look at Santa Clara County.  Huge.  Five hundred and seventy dollars.  San Mateo is $553.  San Francisco is $600.  And then you bump up to L.A.  I mean, it’s pretty clear that L.A. is as high as it is in reimbursement because it had a lot of political clout somewhere along the line.  I mean, how else would you rationalize it?


MS. WELLER:  I can’t rationalize it.  There are other counties in this country that are over $700.


SENATOR SPEIER:  Which counties are those?


MS. WELLER:  I don’t know offhand.


UNIDENTIFIED:  (Inaudible.)


SENATOR SPEIER:  Miami?


SENATOR JOHNSON:  Interesting – Miami.  


UNIDENTIFIED:  I believe New York … (inaudible).


SENATOR SPEIER:  Don’t you think it’s political, Senator Johnson?


SENATOR JOHNSON:  I’m just thinking that it’s interesting that some of the most egregious examples that have come forward of fraud in the system have also been in Miami.


SENATOR SPEIER:  That’s true.


MS. WELLER:  But if you’re basing it on fee-for-service reimbursement, that would make sense.


MR. WEHRLE:  Senator, the last thing I was going to say by way of conclusion, before you hear from the individual plans, is just this appeal.  No business that I know of willingly gets smaller.  Nobody tries to shrink.  If health plans could possibly stay alive in these areas they would.  They’d be crazy not to.  If they could break even, they’d stay.  And that’s the harsh reality that they’re confronting.  Health Net, sitting behind me, and PacifiCare and Blue Shield and Kaiser – two for-profit, two not-for-profit plans – they’re fierce competitors.  If they could make it they’d be there.  They are businesses in that respect.  Target doesn’t willingly lose half of its customers.  And it’s not a circumstance that health plans are very pleased with either.


The only sort of optimistic thing I can share with you is that we are supporting at the federal level a bipartisan proposal by Senator Schumer in the Senate and Senator Santorum, and in the House it’s actually about thirty or forty members of the congressional delegation, including both Democrats and Republicans from California – Congresswoman Eshoo, I believe from the Bay Area, and Congresswoman Capps from Santa Barbara are a couple of names that I recall – to try to adjust the reimbursement rate at least to 100 percent of the fee-for-service equivalent.  That is to say, at least pay plans exactly what, you estimate anyway, you’re paying for the fee-for-service equivalent, and off that we will try to do additional things.  Where that goes in this budget environment, it’s difficult to say.  But that is one of the things that we have proposed at the federal level that we think at least patches the dike a bit.


SENATOR SPEIER:  All right.  Let’s go to Ms. Hanson.  After Mr. Wehrle’s comments, Kaiser is the only HMO that hasn’t withdrawn from any of its counties.


MS. DENISE HANSON:  That’s correct.


SENATOR SPEIER:  Is it just because you’re making a lot of money in those counties that you can stay there?  


MS. HANSON:  I think there’s several things at play here.  Certainly, as we heard earlier, Kaiser is a different model.  Kaiser Permanente is not only a health plan, it’s a delivery system, and we’re able to provide cost-effective care.  We don’t have some of the same challenges that I think some of the other players do.  I think primarily those are the reasons why we’ve been able to stay in those counties.


That’s not to say that we are immune to these cost trends.  Clearly, by virtue of the benefit package that we had to roll out this year, we increased premiums and we added some copays.  We, too, are feeling the results of exactly the kinds of things that Bill was talking about.  It’s not been an easy decision for us to make.  Kaiser is very supportive of the Medicare program.  As a healthcare delivery program, we’ll continue to support Medicare, and we want to continue to be providing care to our Medicare eligibles through our healthcare delivery system and by whatever financing system makes the most sense for us.  We want to maintain a viable program.


SENATOR SPEIER:  But have you had conversations about pulling out of counties?


MS. HANSON:  To this date we have not.


SENATOR SPEIER:  So, are we to believe then that it’s financially feasible to be cost-effective in these counties and that’s why you stay, because of the model that you have and the lack of negotiations with independent hospitals and medical groups?  Your medical group is independent.


MS. HANSON:  Yes, but let me just speak a few moments about the structure of Kaiser Permanente.  It’s a three-part partnership.  There’s Kaiser Foundation Hospitals and Health Plan, and then we have partnerships with our medical groups.  In California we have two different medical groups:  the Permanente Medical Group in Northern California and Southern California Permanente Medical Group.  Those are contractual arrangements between the medical groups and the health plan.  However, we’ve had a fifty-year partnership.  They’re also exclusive arrangements for the health plan.  That’s why I’m suggesting that maybe we don’t have quite the same level of difficulty in negotiating our contracts, our arrangements, with our providers.  We own our own hospitals.  We don’t negotiate with ourselves on the hospital side.


In three counties in the state we do have contracts with other networks:  in Stanislaus, as was mentioned earlier, in Coachella Valley, and also in western Ventura.  So, we share some of those challenges there.


But back to your point:  Yes, this year, for 2002, we’re able to maintain a program; so are our competitors in various counties.  But you’ll also notice that our cost-sharing has increased with our members, our benefits have declined slightly, and again, that’s the impact of the huge gap that we’re seeing between healthcare cost trends that are accelerating at a rapid rate and the cap of a two percent increase on an annual basis.  We have a challenged program here.


SENATOR SPEIER:  And where are the costs growing the fastest?


MS. HANSON:  Clearly in the pharmacy area.  Medical costs, what with new technologies, are increasing fairly significantly.  But we’re seeing high double-digit costs in the pharmacy programs.


SENATOR SPEIER:  Are you covering brand-name drugs?


MS. HANSON:  Yes, we are.


SENATOR SPEIER:  And the copay differential on the two?  Do you differentiate?


MS. HANSON:  Yes, we do.  We’re about thirty different counties, but I believe it’s $10 for generic and $25 for brand-name drugs.


SENATOR SPEIER:  And you have different copays in different counties?


MS. HANSON:  No.  We have different premiums in different counties.  Right now our copays are the same.  Northern California is one set, Southern California another.


SENATOR SPEIER:  All right.  Other comments you’d like to make?


MS. HANSON:  The only differences are – let me just rephrase this.  We have a higher drug cap in Southern California than we do in Northern California, and again, it’s a function of the reimbursement levels.


SENATOR SPEIER:  Because you’re getting reimbursed higher.


MS. HANSON:  That’s correct.


SENATOR SPEIER:  So, your cap is what in Southern California?


MS. HANSON:  It’s $2,000.


SENATOR SPEIER:  And in Northern California?


MS. HANSON:  It’s $1,000.


SENATOR SPEIER:  Wow.


All right.  Nancy Monk, do you want to go next?


MS. NANCY MONK:  Sure.


I’d like to just take a moment to introduce Greg Ratkovic(?), who is one of my colleagues from PacifiCare/Secure Horizons.  He’s the director of Product Management and is standing in for Tina Manning today.


SENATOR SPEIER:  I’m sorry, his name again?


MS. MONK:  Greg Ratkovic.


SENATOR SPEIER:  I’m sure I’ll slaughter that.


MS. MONK:  Thank you for letting us provide you with some additional information about the PacifiCare/Secure Horizons program today, particularly in Northern California.


PacifiCare has the second largest Medicare Plus Choice HMO in California.  We were surpassed in enrollment by Kaiser this year.  We have historically had the largest health plan in California, and we are the largest Medicare Plus Choice contractor in the nation.  At this time we do operate in several other states.


SENATOR SPEIER:  Do you think you will be next year?


MS. MONK:  I do think we will still be next year, but we may not be.  Obviously, changes in enrollment occur rapidly in an environment like this one.


We’ve had a longstanding commitment to the Medicare program in California.  Our Medicare Plus Choice contract was established – back then it was referred to as a Medicare Risk contract – was established in 1985, and we have been working in this program ever since then and have been very committed to it.  Up until 1997, all of our discussion about the program was:  How can we improve benefits?  How can we improve service?  How can we expand our service area?  


The Balanced Budget Act in 1997 changed that very significantly by changing the reimbursement mechanism.  Historically, the original Medicare Risk Program was designed to reimburse Medicare Plus Choice HMOs at about 90 percent of the anticipated fee-for-service cost that Medicare would spend in given counties or regions.  At this point, due to changes in reimbursement that were wrought by the Balanced Budget Act, we are, on average, receiving about 87 percent of what the fee-for-service program would expect to pay.  


Now, that varies by county.  The bulk of our enrollment in California is in urban counties:  Los Angeles, Orange County, San Diego.  Although we do serve quite a few counties in Northern California as well, the concentration of our enrollment, like other plans, is in Southern California.


We’re really struggling with the revenue gap that has been established under the Balanced Budget Act.  Last year Congress did pass legislation to provide more funds to Medicare Plus Choice plans throughout the country.  Unfortunately, although California does have the preponderance of Medicare Plus Choice enrollment in the nation, we only got about 30 percent of those funds as a state.  So, 70 percent of the enhanced funding that was passed last year by Congress went to markets outside of California; this, again, despite the fact that the preponderance of enrollment is here in California.


SENATOR SPEIER:  Ms. Weller, can you respond to that?  Do you know why that would be?


MS. WELLER:  I’m sorry, I missed your last point.


MS. MONK:  That the enhanced funding that came through BIPA primarily was distributed to markets outside of California, even though—


MS. WELLER:  I’m not sure why that happened.


MS. MONK:  The funding mechanism’s really addressed to the issues of sort of rural centers.


MS. WELLER:  And the lower reimbursed counties which are in your more rural states versus California—


SENATOR JOHNSON:  (Inaudible.)


MS. WELLER:  Rural.


SENATOR SPEIER:  Lower reimbursement counties.  How low is low?


MS. WELLER:  I think the bottom was four and a quarter, and I think it was raised to four seventy-five.


SENATOR SPEIER:  Four dollars?


MS. WELLER:  Four hundred.


SENATOR SPEIER:  Oh, four hundred.


MS. WELLER:  So $425 was the bottom, and they raised that.


SENATOR SPEIER:  Okay, so it wasn’t an across-the-board increase; it was really just to augment rural counties.


MS. WELLER:  Some plans got maybe a dollar more a month.  Some got much more.  It really was all over the place.


SENATOR JOHNSON:  How is that translated in rural California?


MS. MONK:  Rural California also received adjustments.  However, there aren’t that many enrollees in California in the rural counties for Medicare Plus Choice.  As a consequence, not much of the money flowed to California.


SENATOR SPEIER:  Because there aren’t many HMOs in rural California.


MS. MONK:  Well, our plan certainly served a number of rural counties.  As has been discussed today, we have taken the steps to withdraw from eight counties in California for the 2002 Plan Year and to partially withdraw from an additional seven counties within California.  Frankly, that is really about where we can secure a stable healthcare delivery system for our enrollees and still provide them with value-added benefits beyond Medicare in order to be an attractive product.  


There’s been a lot of discussion today about San Mateo and the service area and redlining and zip codes.  Our service area in San Mateo is entirely defined around the provider system that we were successful in negotiating a 2002 contract with.  So Mills-Peninsula Medical Group, we sat down with them and said, Okay, you’re the only one that we’re able to affordably work with in San Mateo for the 2002 benefit year, given the premium that we’re getting, given the cost increases that have occurred.  So, let’s work out with the service areas; and frankly, they helped us define where their patient base is, what their service area is, and that is what our service area is in San Mateo for 2002.


SENATOR SPEIER:  Although, Mills-Peninsula does not go into the 94062 zip code, and yet, you are there.


MR. GREG RATKOVIC:  Is that Redwood City?


SENATOR SPEIER:  No, 94062 is Atherton, maybe a little bit of Redwood City.  It’s Portola Valley.


MR. RATKOVIC:  They do have a health clinic that goes into that part of the county.


SENATOR SPEIER:  Who do you contract with?  What medical group do you contract with there?


MR. RATKOVIC:  Mills-Peninsula Medical Group.


SENATOR SPEIER:  Not there you don’t, because Sequoia is there, and Mills-Peninsula does not do business with Sequoia Medical.


MR. RATKOVIC:  But they do have providers that are in that zip code.


MS. MONK:  They do have contracted providers in their IPA in that zip code.


SENATOR SPEIER:  Is it the zip code of the provider or the zip code of the enrollee?  I think it’s the zip code of the enrollee on which you base.  That has nothing to do with – I mean, I really don’t want to focus in on San Mateo County.  That was not my intention.  I was just disputing.


MS. MONK:  Right.  The point is that our service area, in the partial counties where we have remained, is entirely defined around where we were able to secure a stable delivery system for the program.  When we do that, we have to be very careful about the commitments that we make because it is a year commitment.  We have to have providers who want to be working with us who are capable of managing the program and working with us for an entire year at a time.


SENATOR SPEIER:  All right, let’s move to some of the comments that were made by Mr. Ambrunn earlier.  Why is it that you’re not allowing authorization by physicians any longer?  Evidently, in previous years, for Medicare Plus Choice, if a drug was not covered, you would allow for case-by-case—


MS. MONK:  If it was not on our formulary, we would allow for that.


SENATOR SPEIER:  And now you’re not doing that anymore.


MS. MONK:  That’s correct, and that is entirely related to the cost of prescription drugs.  The inflation experience that we have is over 20 percent in the prescription drug program.


SENATOR SPEIER:  But how can you possibly say that that is providing quality healthcare if a patient – I mean, you’ve got to have an escape valve.  You’ve got to have an opportunity where a patient that cannot tolerate a particular drug is be able to get coverage for another drug.  How can you not cover insulin when it costs $30?


MS. MONK:  I think it’s really important to remember that we do not receive any funding from Medicare to underwrite the cost of insulin or any other prescription drug, other than a very select few that are part of the benefit package.


SENATOR SPEIER:  But neither does Kaiser.  Neither does any other HMO.  That’s kind of irrelevant in this discussion.  That’s part of what lured every senior citizen in California to an HMO to begin with.  It was because you covered prescription drugs.


MS. MONK:  Right.  And we used to be funded at a level that allowed us to cover prescription drugs, and we are no longer funded at that level.


SENATOR SPEIER:  But why would you cover Activase, for instance, and not cover insulin?  Activase is far more expensive than insulin.


MS. MONK:  We defined our benefit package around generic versus nongeneric and around a medications list.  We didn’t go through drug by drug and weigh the cost of each individual drug.  We really tried to define a benefit package that could be understandable and administered in the environment, and that was the benefit package that we offered.  Other health plans did it differently than we did; so, there is still variation and choice for beneficiaries in some areas.


But again, I think it’s really important to remember that Medicare isn’t reimbursing us to cover the cost of drugs.


SENATOR SPEIER:  We know that.  But that is precisely why you went into the marketplace to attract seniors – was because you were offering prescription drugs.


MS. MONK:  Right.


SENATOR SPEIER:  So, once you get them in there and you’re not making as much money, you drop the prescription drugs.  You know, to me, I can see you making a case for wanting to move to generics and on a case-by-case basis only offering brand names to people who can’t tolerate the generics, who have adverse reactions to it.  But to not cover the fundamental drug that is needed by a person who has diabetes – and we know there’s a high percentage of seniors who have diabetes – is unconscionable to me.


MS. MONK:  We just can’t afford it anymore.  


SENATOR SPEIER:  Well, don’t cover Activase and cover insulin, for godsakes.  


MS. MONK:  There are probably thousands of enrollees in our program who are dependent on Activase who would not want that dropped off the program.


I completely agree with your point, Senator.  Please don’t take by my defense of my plan’s actions that I think that seniors shouldn’t have access to insulin.  I absolutely think they do.  But I think that what we’re talking about is a grave policy concern for all of us, and it’s a federal funding concern.  Our plan is a reflection of public funding for healthcare for seniors.


SENATOR SPEIER:  Now, what happens if, three months into this, you find out that you’ve got three times as many hospitalizations for diabetics because they’re not getting insulin?  What are you going to do then?  Are you going to change your policy then?


MS. MONK:  Well, we would only be able to make it better, so if we did determine that, yes, maybe we would.  Maybe that would be an appropriate decision for us to make.  At this point, in filing our ACRs and filing the benefit package, given the premium revenue that we have available to us at this point, we had to balance it out somehow and we picked a set of benefits.  It’s not the same benefits that everybody picked.  And we’re better in some ways than some other plans are.


So, I mean, we have to cover what we can cover with the funding that we’ve got.  Unfortunately, the gap in the funding that we’ve got, based on what Medicare pays on the fee-for-service side at this point, is just huge.  We have a very difficult time attracting providers to participate with us in our program at this point simply because they can do better under fee-for-service Medicare and have no third party intervention.  That’s really what our county withdrawals are about – is that we can’t compete with Medicare fee-for-service anymore.


SENATOR SPEIER:  How much are you charging for chemotherapy per day as a copay?


MS. MONK:  It’s a sliding scale based on the cost of the drug, based on the cost of the injectible drug.  I’ve heard $250, and that is a copayment for certain drugs.  It’s less for certain drugs; it’s more for certain drugs.  And it’s been designed to mimic the 20 percent share of cost of Medicare.


SENATOR SPEIER:  What happens when the patient is just not going to be able to afford it?  What are you going to do?


MS. MONK:  We try to provide, through our case management department, patients with advice on how they can access the benefit.  There are some compassionate use programs out there.  There’s Medi-Cal if they qualify for it.  There are other choices in the environment.  We talk to our patients about that.  We try to help them wend their way through the system.  Again, it comes back to Medicare doesn’t cover it.  We can’t cover it anymore, based on the amount of funding that we’re getting from Medicare, because our costs have gone up far faster than our reimbursement from Medicare has.


SENATOR SPEIER:  All right.  


David Friedman?


MR. DAVID FRIEDMAN:  Thank you and good afternoon.


I can’t really add much to what has already been said by my colleagues.  I can discuss our decisions in San Mateo.  However, Ms. Weller from CMS kind of let the cat out of the bag for us.  At the time of our filing we did not have secure contracts.


SENATOR SPEIER:  I understood.


MR. FRIEDMAN:  And we are submitting—


SENATOR SPEIER:  You are now moving forward in an effort to try and—


MR. FRIEDMAN:  Right, and we should have something submitted to CMS by the end of this month.


SENATOR SPEIER:  So, how would you attract the enrollees back?  Right now they have coverage until the end of December with Health Net.


MR. FRIEDMAN:  In San Mateo County it probably works out fairly well because we have a current contract with Mills-Peninsula, and I don’t believe PacifiCare currently has one with Mills-Peninsula.  So, the senior could keep their same doctor and just switch health plans, as of January 1, and go over to PacifiCare.


SENATOR SPEIER:  Right now you are not in San Mateo County in the northern part.


MR. FRIEDMAN:  Yes, we are.  We completely cover San Mateo County today.  We will not in 2002.


SENATOR SPEIER:  But in 2002, you will not cover northern San Mateo County.


MR. FRIEDMAN:  We will once it’s approved by CMS.


SENATOR SPEIER:  I understand that.  Logistically, I’m a senior citizen who has Health Net who, on January 1st, has to go see my doctor because I’m having an asthma attack.


MR. FRIEDMAN:  Correct.  My assumption would be he or she would be associated with a Mills-Peninsula primary care physician.  They would have to switch plans to Secure Horizons to continue to see that physician under Medicare managed care.


SENATOR SPEIER:  So, there’s no way that Mills-Peninsula would just continue to see that patient and have a means by which they could be reimbursed?


MR. FRIEDMAN:  Through traditional Medicare they could, yes.


SENATOR SPEIER:  That’s not my point.  How long is it going to take you to—?


MS. WELLER:  If they submit an application at the end of this month for a service area expansion in San Mateo, we will work on it as expeditiously as possible.  We also are interested in getting them back up and running again in San Mateo County.  But, what is going to happen is, currently, the members that they have in the north part of San Mateo County will be automatically disenrolled.  Oh, I think you have to submit those.  They will submit disenrollments for those members and they will not be in Health Net January 1, 2002.  They will either be in regular Medicare or they will have made their own decision to switch to one of the other health plans that are still in San Mateo County.  So, when they are up and running back again, they will have to remarket.  It’s up to them.  They will lose all that membership and they’ll have to advertise that they’re back in that service area.


I believe what we’re requiring them to do is that they will be utilizing the package that they currently have, the benefit package, for the rest of the county.


MR. FRIEDMAN:  That’s correct.


MS. WELLER:  So, what they’ll be offering in the rest of the county is what they will be offering in their reduced area also in 2002.


SENATOR SPEIER:  When would you have approval on their plan?


MS. WELLER:  As I said, we try—


SENATOR SPEIER:  Give me a ballpark.


MS. WELLER:  Personally, I’d like to get them back up 2/1.  We will not be able to get them up January 1, but I’d like to get them back up 2/1.  And I’m sure they would like that too.


SENATOR SPEIER:  If they were up 2/1 and the—


MS. WELLER:  But they will have to reenroll anybody that wants to—


SENATOR SPEIER:  But the seniors aren’t going to be able to reenroll for the first six months of 2002.


MS. WELLER:  Oh yes, they can.


MR. FRIEDMAN:  They will.  I think every month for six months.


SENATOR SPEIER:  Oh, they can for the first six months and can’t for the second six months.


MS. WELLER:  Well, they’re allowed two elections, I think, during that first six months, so this can be one of their elections.  And from what we get from Congress is they’re interested in delaying implementation of lock-in, so a lock-in may not play a factor.


SENATOR SPEIER:  Lock-in may not take effect in 2002 at all.


MS. WELLER:  It may not take effect.  There is legislation pending to delay it a year.


SENATOR SPEIER:  And lock-in being that you would have to stay with your same HMO for an entire year or six months?


MS. WELLER:  There’s a six-month period where you can make two elections, and then after that you’re locked in.


SENATOR SPEIER:  You’re locked in for the second six months.


MS. WELLER:  Right.


SENATOR SPEIER:  Okay.  That solves that.


MR. FRIEDMAN:  To answer your question specifically, we anticipate losing most of the membership and hope that either our benefit packages or reputation –however we market our health plan, whenever we’re able to market it.


SENATOR SPEIER:  Are there any other counties in California where you have pulled out partially where you are now contemplating reapplying?


MR. FRIEDMAN:  No.


SENATOR SPEIER:  How many counties have you pulled out of?


MR. FRIEDMAN:  I believe it’s six.  We’re in a total of thirteen now.


SENATOR SPEIER:  You’ve pulled out of six and you’re—


MR. FRIEDMAN:  In a total of thirteen counties.


SENATOR SPEIER:  What does your package look like in terms of prescription drugs?  Does it vary county to county?


MR. FRIEDMAN:  Yes, it does.  In most counties we cover generics with unlimited.  Los Angeles and Orange County we also cover brand drugs in addition to generics.


SENATOR SPEIER:  And you have a copay in these Northern California counties?  A premium, I’m sorry.


MR. FRIEDMAN:  Correct.  About $80 a month.


SENATOR SPEIER:  Explain to me how, when you have this augmented premium that you charge Northern California Medicare Plus Choice enrollees, that then equals what you’re getting in Southern California from Medicare as a premium.  You’re not charging a premium to your enrollees in Southern California.  Basically, you’ve equalized what you’re receiving from each enrollee in two different parts of the state.


MR. FRIEDMAN:  Actually, the only counties that we do not have a premium is our Orange and Los Angeles.  Every other county we do.


SENATOR SPEIER:  Well, they’re big counties.


MR. FRIEDMAN:  Understood.  But the way we reimburse physicians, Senator, is that they get a percentage of the premium plus the member premium.  So, if we’ve equaled them, then physicians in Northern California are getting about reimbursed the same as they are in Southern California.


SENATOR SPEIER:  It’s not the physicians I’m talking about.  It’s the enrollees that I’m concerned about.


MR. FRIEDMAN:  But part of the problem that we have in Northern California is finding physicians willing to contract with us at Medicare reimbursement without adding more to it.  I don’t know if that makes sense.  Say we’re getting $500—


SENATOR SPEIER:  I see.  You’re using the premium of the enrollee in Northern California to pay the physician and therefore you’re not offering the same benefits.


MR. FRIEDMAN:  That’s why the benefits are slightly different too.  It’s to help stabilize the network, and I’m sure PacifiCare is doing the same thing.  Kaiser is a different situation.


SENATOR SPEIER:  Is the providing of healthcare more expensive in Northern California?


MR. FRIEDMAN:  Absolutely.


SENATOR SPEIER:  I mean, I’m saying “actually.”


MR. FRIEDMAN:  On our commercial product, our healthcare premiums are much more expensive in Northern California than they are in Southern California.


SENATOR SPEIER:  Are the physicians just more greedy in Northern California?


MR. FRIEDMAN:  I can’t answer that question.  (Laughter.)


SENATOR SPEIER:  Or is it the cost of doing business?  Is it more expensive in Northern California?


MR. FRIEDMAN:  It’s more expensive.  It’s very expensive to live in your county.


SENATOR SPEIER:  So, the cost of doing business is more expensive in Northern California, and the Medicare reimbursement rate is substantially lower.  I mean, it’s the worst of all possible worlds.


MR. FRIEDMAN:  There’s less competition in Northern California than there is in Southern California.


SENATOR SPEIER:  Because they can’t afford to live in those communities.


MR. FRIEDMAN:  That’s probably true.


SENATOR SPEIER:  All right.  Have we covered everybody?  I think we have.  Any other questions?


All right, thank you.


Our final panel includes the state’s role:  Betty Perry from the Older Women’s League; Bill Powers from the Congress of California Seniors; Jack Christie, Associate State Director of AARP; Casey Young, who’s the chief of the Office of Governmental Affairs for CalPERS; and Joy Higa, the deputy director of Plan-Provider Relations, Department of Managed Health Care.


Good morning.  Betty Perry, would you like to begin?


MS. BETTY PERRY:  Good afternoon, Senator.  I’m Betty Perry from the Older Women’s League of California.


Sitting here through these several hours of discussion, I find my remarks – I’ll try not to be too redundant with what’s gone on before, but sometimes you have to refer to that to give my report.


When we read that 84,000 Medicare recipients in California will be affected by the pullouts on January 1st, in addition to the 57,000 affected in 2001, the Older Women’s League is compelled to express our outrage because women over 65 outnumber men as Medicare beneficiaries, and at age 85, women recipients outnumber men two to one.  Now older women live longer and have more chronic illnesses than men, and our concerns really need to be heard.


We have been concerned, as you have, with the withdrawals from certain areas of the state.  We think this is a contradiction of an insurance principle.  But as I looked over the regulations, I found that there is so many exemptions to automatic renewal that many of us have to look at this a little more carefully.  An example would be an area that is bound to be too expensive, as you mentioned a few minutes ago.  You have to eliminate by whole areas.


But the point is – you’ve talked about zip codes and these things – who really defines what these areas are?  That seems to be perplexing to me – how the areas for withdrawal are defined.


In addition to withdrawals, there’s the problem of increased monthly payments, as many people have discussed, and increased copayments.  These increases are not like a cost-of-living increase.  They’ve been significant.  And remember, I’m speaking for women on a fixed income.  These increases are a great shock, and women over 65 are twice as likely to be poorer as men.  So, this makes it a special problem.


And we cannot overlook the fact of the increased pharmaceutical costs.  We realize they’re an important part in the increase in HMO costs, and the recent HMOs are wanting to withdraw paying for pharmaceuticals.  However, one of the things, as we have been supporting improved drugs, we felt is that they would decrease other medical costs, and we don’t see how that’s been taken into account.


The economics of medical care is a huge problem.  I had a friend that was in the hospital a week or so ago.  I went to see him, and in thirty-six hours he had three different roommates.  And this was in the cardiac care.  Nobody’s paying very much hospital expense for people that are in hospitals for such a short stay and these people are being given all these wonderful medicines.  Maybe we should think about how those costs could be equalized.


SENATOR SPEIER:  So, reduce the hospital cost benefit and increase the prescription drug benefit?


MS. PERRY:  Well, I was wondering how this worked out.  I’m not claiming to be a medical economist, but they’ve said drugs will decrease hospitalization.  So, if HMOs are going to be paying for drugs, maybe they’re not paying as much for hospitalization.  That’s my question.


Now, I also would like to stress something that I don’t think has been mentioned much today, and that is that it’s bad for a well person to know their HMO benefits are going to be reduced or removed, but it becomes a much more serious matter for a person with a chronic illness or a person who is suffering from depression to face this dilemma.  That person may well have a limited income; may have little or no support system in place.  She’s been looking forward to at least the security of knowing her medical care was provided by this HMO.  This mental anguish is an issue that should not be overlooked as we consider the pullouts.


We remember well that man with his fishing pole in the Secure Horizon ads telling his wife, Betty, that no longer would they have to worry about their future healthcare costs.  


I was not his wife.  (Laughter.)  I get better:  my husband is retired military.  I’m all taken care of with TRICARE.


It is unfortunate that when these policies were sold, they were sold as something people would have forever, and I think that part is a tragedy.  I think this is something we all will have to work on together to see if we – I mean, we need each other in solving this problem.  We can’t ignore the fact that we have things to share and things to benefit.


I looked again when HMOs came on to the scene, and I think the federal government and the Medicare HMOs have a pie-in-the-sky view of healthcare for the aging and the disabled.  The businesses would make money; the federal government would help them do it.  Somewhere the notion of lasting healthcare became lost.  The plans made money for a little bit, then they were making a little more money, and then the government made some drastic cutbacks.  


Now, people have been accustomed to this good care for, really, a relatively short time.  Now the HMOs are cutting back even more and sick people are very tired.  Very worried as well as tired.  We must come to this state of California to ask for help.  Thousands of Californians are accustomed to the Medicare HMO services with prescription drugs.  I don’t think we can abandon them now that they are old and sick, and we look to your committee to lead us forward.


And Senator, I’m going to leave with you The Face of Medicare is a Woman You Know – the Older Women’s League report.


SENATOR SPEIER:  Thank you.


Mr. Perry?


MR. BILL POWERS:  Good afternoon, Madam Chair.  My name is Bill Powers.


SENATOR SPEIER:  Mr. Powers.  I’m sorry.  Geez.  I see the two of you together all the time.  I just called you Mr. Perry.  I’m sorry.  (Laughter.)


MR. PERRY:  That’s okay.  I take that as a compliment.


SENATOR SPEIER:  You should take it as a compliment.


Mr. Powers.


MR. PERRY:  Thank you.  I appreciate the opportunity to testify before you today on the effect of the continued pullout of HMOs from additional parts of California.


Senator Speier, before I testify, I wanted to thank you for your ongoing efforts to protect consumers in this state and especially for your leadership on behalf of seniors in our state.


With regard to today’s hearing, as that famous philosopher Yogi Berra has cogently put it, “This is déjà vu all over again.”  Except in the context of today’s hearing, there is little to laugh about in the situation in which enrollees in the Medicare Plus Choice program will be facing January 2002.  You have heard from previous witnesses the details of the latest abuses being heaped upon Medicare HMO enrollees by HMOs – with the concurrence of the Bush Administration.  And I say that with all of the testimony that’s been given by the HMOs and all of the problems that they say and all of the excuses that the feds are giving.


Managed care was sold to us, to those of us on Medicare, as a way to bring competition to healthcare and to provide more benefits at lower cost.  Many of us jumped at the opportunity to enroll because of the offer of discounted prescription drug prices and other important benefits.  However, what was promised – the Nirvana of healthcare – has slowly turned into a bait-and-switch operation.


For most rural communities, there are no longer any HMOs.  Each year they have continued their departure from community after community.  Where they have stayed, the HMOs have each year reduced benefits and increased the cost to enrollees.  All of this has been done with the approval of the federal government.  And I am sure that I don’t have to remind the committee that most of the enrollees are people on limited incomes and are generally sicker than the population at large.  


As I indicated earlier, many of us were drawn to HMOs because of the drug benefit.  Now almost every HMO is refusing to cover brand-name drugs, even though there may not be a generic replacement available.  This action was also approved by the Bush Administration while refusing to take on major pharmaceutical firms for their outrageous and often illegal practices that have been the major reason for the rising cost of healthcare.  I would have wished that the HMOs would have complained more vociferously about some of those actions by the pharmaceutical firms instead of just trying to pass on all of the costs to us.  But that could be the subject for another hearing.


My wife and I are both enrolled in an HMO, so I’m speaking from personal experience.  In the space of being enrolled in a Medicare HMO for five years, I have had four primary care doctors.  Three of the doctors have dropped out of the HMO program because they were constantly being second-guessed by the HMO on making referrals or recommending certain procedures.


This is certainly not conducive to the best continuity of healthcare.  It is clear that the main role of the HMO is not to ensure the best healthcare practices for patients but to limit the dollars spent on healthcare.  We don’t believe that this is any way to run a healthcare system.  We don’t think that it should continue this way.


With the current pullouts, reductions in benefits, and increases in fees, the Medicare HMO program may not be a much better deal for seniors than the regular fee-for-service program of Medicare.  If there ever was a time for real universal healthcare programs to be enacted, it is now.  And certainly, at a minimum, getting prescription drug programs under Medicare has to be put back on the table by Congress.


The yearly changes in the Medicare HMO programs are proving unnerving to hundreds of thousands of seniors in our state and country and disabled folks also.  People don’t understand what is going on.  The need to switch plans, to change doctors, or, in some cases, to move to get adequate healthcare is plain madness.  And for the poorest and sickest, what is being done is plain criminal, in our view.  We are being used as a tool to get more dollars from Congress; clearly, without having to provide more benefits or even to maintain the current benefit level.


The one suggestion I have for the Department of Managed Health Care is to hold public hearings once they have received the HMO proposed changes for the coming year.  We are the ones who are the most affected by the changes that are being suggested to be put into effect, and yet, we have no input into the process.  We only suffer the results.


Let me close by saying that seniors are frustrated, angry, and terrified.  The September 11th terrorism was not the only terrorism put on the American people.  Some of the changes taking place now are also a form of terrorism.  Our society can and must do better.


Thank you.


SENATOR SPEIER:  Thank you, Mr. Powers.


Ms. Weller, any changes that an HMO makes to their prescription drug benefit is not something that is reviewed as part of your ACR or is?


MS. WELLER:  I’m not sure I know what you mean by “any changes.”  I mean, they submit what their pharmacy package will be for the next contract year.


SENATOR SPEIER:  At one point you said any benefit that exceeds what is required to be offered by Medicare is not something that—


MS. WELLER:  We review their entire package of benefits.  They’re only required to provide the Medicare benefits.  But anything else they also need to submit.  Anything that’s in their benefit package is reviewed by us.  We do look at the pharmacy and the other things that they provide.


SENATOR SPEIER:  Do you ever reject it because the pharmacy copay is too high?  I mean, do you ever look at the pharmacy benefit and say, “This is inappropriate.  This is appropriate.  You should cover brand names.  You shouldn’t cover them”?


MS. WELLER:  They do not submit to us their full formulary.  We don’t get a list of all the drugs, and we don’t have the people to go through that list.


SENATOR SPEIER:  I guess what I’m asking is do you have the authority to reject their ACR because you don’t like something in their benefit plan that already exceeds Medicare coverage?


MS. WELLER:  You know, we’ve never had that come up, and I hate to say yes or no to that because I’m not really sure what we can do.


SENATOR SPEIER:  You see where I’m going, though, right?


MS. WELLER:  Yes, I see where you’re going.  We’ve never had a year like this.  In the past, the benefit packages have looked good.  This is the first year where we have had all these high copays and the drug prescription/drug benefits being reduced.  I don’t think that in any of the prescription drug benefits that I’ve looked at this year the copays are outrageous.  Most of them range around 8 to 10 dollars for generics, and if they offer brand, 10 to 25 or 35 dollars for brand.


SENATOR SPEIER:  But we know chemotherapy is $250 for certain drugs, right?


MS. WELLER:  But that’s getting to a Medicare benefit.  See, that is covered under Medicare – chemotherapy.  That’s why you asked me the question about whether or not we can find out what Medicare would pay in those situations, and I think Nancy Monk responded to your question on that, that they have come up with this sliding scale depending on the cost of the drugs, and it is equivalent to what Medicare would have paid – the 20 percent.


SENATOR SPEIER:  No, but she said some drugs are $250 – right?  


MS. WELLER:  Right.  Some drugs are.  I’m still going to look into that myself, but I understand some of these drugs are very expensive and that that $250 represents 20 percent of what it would have cost if you had gotten the chemotherapy through Medicare fee-for-service.  That’s what I understood her to say.  I do still plan to check on that.


SENATOR SPEIER:  All right.  But you’ve never taken action in terms of rejecting an ACR because you didn’t like—


MS. WELLER:  No.  This is the first year that we ever started questioning ACRs.  They have never looked this way before.  Again, this is Central Office that is looking at them; we do not look at them in the region.


SENATOR SPEIER:  So, the region is not the place where they’re looked at?  They’re looked at a central office where?


MS. WELLER:  They’re looked at in Central Office.  They’re all submitted to Central Office, and I do know that our administrator got actively involved in what was submitted this year, and that is why they went back to some of the plans and had them resubmit.


SENATOR SPEIER:  Give us an example.


MS. WELLER:  Well, the dialysis is an example.  When Nancy brought up the chemotherapy, I actually think that was one that PacifiCare had to resubmit showing the sliding scale.  But the dialysis dropped from $50 to $25.  In other parts of the country, I think there was some problems with some of the other plans in what they were charging.  Some of the hospital copays were way out of line and plans have resubmitted those.  But this is the first year that we have ever done this to this extent.  There’s always been minor things wrong but nothing like this.


SENATOR SPEIER:  So, conceivably, you could require them to resubmit and require physician authorization for a brand-name drug.


MS. WELLER:  On that, no.  They don’t have to offer a prescription drug benefit.  This is my guess because, like I said, we don’t look at it in the region.  I think if they were offering a prescription drug benefit and the copay was $100, we would probably go back to them and say something.  It would have to be something really outrageous.  But we would not look at how they were handling prescription drugs – the authorization process.  When we do site visits and do monitoring visits, we will oftentimes interview physicians.  If we get comments on certain policies and practices, we will make recommendations to the health plans.  


We’ve been in this business for a long time.  We have formed a partnership.  We have usually been able to work out most issues with the plans to everyone’s satisfaction, but this year is different.


SENATOR SPEIER:  But if there’s not a generic equivalent for a brand-name drug for a particular—


MS. WELLER:  See, I’m going to go back to what Nancy was saying:  They don’t have to provide drugs, and that’s the whole problem.


SENATOR SPEIER:  This is how I would argue differently.  They are getting a flat rate per month per enrollee, so they have bought in to being part of this Medicare program.  Although it doesn’t look like the Medicare fee-for-service, the fact of the matter is they’re getting a blank check – well, not a blank check – but a specific check each month for this enrollee whether they had a service or not.  


Now, on the other side of Medicare, you pay a reduced fee for service to the physician.  No, you don’t.  You have a fee schedule and then—


MS. WELLER:  They pay 20 percent.


SENATOR SPEIER:  The senior pays 20 percent, but there’s a reduced fee that is being paid to—


MS. WELLER:  They pay the Medicare fee.


SENATOR SPEIER:  Right.  But, the physician is being offered a reduced fee, which is Medicare, for the services they render.


MS. WELLER:  Right.


SENATOR SPEIER:  So, I think you can make the argument that since you’re offering this package and you’re offering them a certain amount of money per enrollee per month whether they use the service or not, you can make certain demands upon them, and in many respects you have.


MS. WELLER:  It’s a very political environment right now out there.  I really can’t respond to what Central Office is doing and how much we can request plans to do.  I think in that area we have no legislation on it.  We cannot require them to provide a benefit that’s not required under Medicare.


SENATOR SPEIER:  But to the extent that they are providing a benefit—


MS. WELLER:  We can always work with them.


SENATOR SPEIER:  But to the extent that they’re offering prescription drugs, which they are, they cannot discriminate by not offering a drug to a patient when there is no generic equivalent.  I mean, it’s not providing quality healthcare.  If you don’t provide the prescription drug, that’s something different.  But if you’re going to provide this prescription drug benefit, how can you not provide the brand name if there’s not a generic equivalent?  Do you see what I’m saying?


MS. WELLER:  I understand what you’re saying, and I think it’s something that we can’t resolve here.  But I do understand your point.


SENATOR SPEIER:  All right.


Why don’t we take Jack Christie next?


MR. JACK CHRISTIE:  Thank you, Madam Chair.  I, too, on behalf of AARP, want to thank you for your leadership in this area and in so many other areas – privacy, for example – that are important to older people in the state of California.  We applaud your leadership.


I won’t read my testimony but I would like to highlight a couple of things and go back to some of the earlier comments that were made.  I’d like to clarify one thing first, starting off with Medicare demographics in this state:  how many people are in Medicare Plus Choice plans.  


I believe that the first panel discussing this issue was including within their universe Medicare beneficiaries in cost-managed care plans.  When Medicare started into HMOs back in ’72, they were cost-based plans, and basically, Medicare would just pay cost to these plans.  And then ’85, you heard that TEFRA started the risk-based plans, and then we get to ’97.  And the Balanced Budget Act basically says:  Cost-based plans – you’re being phased out.  Everything else is going to be Medicare Plus Choice, risk-based.  


When you look at what’s on the Medicare Plus Choice website – the plans that are available to the folks that go to that website to see who’s in their county – in California you’re looking, based on enrollment as of the end of June this year, you’re looking at about 37 percent of Medicare beneficiaries in this state being on Medicare Plus Choice.


Now, when you look at the total number of people that are affected by the pullouts – yes, that’s 88,000 in change someplace – but if you look at the number of plans that have left – for example, if you throw in the 10,000 folks from Maxicare that went bankrupt this year, and you look at the folks in TRICARE, a military plan that won’t be available to Medicare patients next year – you’re getting over 100,000 folks that are affected by this pullout.  And as you’ve heard today from other folks talking about the hidden costs in the plans – the cost for chemotherapy and radiation – and when people start to see some of the very high deductibles that are going to be associated with going into the hospital and no Medicare “spell of illness” to protect you from paying multiple deductibles, there’s going to be a lot more people dropping out of managed care because they just can’t afford it.  So, the number we’re looking at is certainly higher than 100,000.


DR. ASHCRAFT:  Explain the “spell of illness.”


MR. CHRISTIE:  Under traditional Medicare, when you go into the hospital you go in for a spell of illness, and that spell of illness starts the day you’re discharged.  So, if you go in the hospital again within sixty days of that discharge, you’re still within the spell of illness, so you don’t have to pay the deductible.


But if you look at lots of the deductibles, and they vary from county to county, but a consistently high deductible as Health Net’s –  $750 each time you go in – you go in the first day, get out the second day, go in the third day, it’s another $750.


SENATOR SPEIER:  Let me interrupt you a minute, Mr. Christie.  If that’s true, then I would think CMS would step forward and say, You cannot provide a benefit that is less than what Medicare is.


MS. WELLER:  That’s correct.


MR. CHRISTIE:  Well, that brings us to a concept that we should be talking about, and I’ll raise it now.  


For an HMO to get approval of its benefit package and costs, they have to demonstrate that it is at least actuarially equivalent to what traditional Medicare offers.  That black box of what is actuarially equivalent is a place where consumers could use some help to flush out is that a standard methodology that all plans have to fill out so that it’s easy for folks to compare apples to apples, even at Central Office?  Or is that something that each actuary at each plan comes up with and says, “Here’s my calculus, here’s actuary equivalence,” and we take it?  Because, if you just look at the copays for radiation or chemotherapy, how is that actuarially equivalent?  If you’re looking at multiple hospital stays that are $750 a whack – some of them are $125 a day – how is that actuarially equivalent?  How are we calculating this?  It’s something where perhaps the Knox-Keene Act could have something in there:  If you’re a plan doing business in California, here’s how you calculate actuarial equivalence, and we give them a formula:  You include this, you include this, you include this.


I don’t know; it’s something to think about.


I also want to support that you’re entirely right:  There was a big to-do about fraud in Medicare.  In fact, the Health Insurance Portability and Protection Act – HIPPA – is a big deal in this country.  The Congress chucked in hundreds of millions of dollars a year to go after Medicare fraud.  That has been a problem but it’s had a very salutary effect on Medicare fraud, at least as it’s been reported since HIPPA.


And you’re right again too:  The CBO and the Government Accounting Office and the IG for the Department of Health and Human Services – they all looked at what we were paying Medicare HMOs and how much it was costing Medicare HMOs to cover the patients they had.  And it was interesting – the Government Accounting Office, the GAO, said in their first report that HMOs are delivering the care at about 87 percent of the AAPCC.  That was the formula in those days – the Average Annual Per Capita Costs.  They were getting paid 95 percent of the AAPCC.  It’s interesting to hear that the lady from PacifiCare just told us that they’re only getting 87 percent of the AAPCC.  Maybe the Balanced Budget Act had some of the effect that they wanted it to have:  If you’re only delivering care at that, that’s what we’re pulling down the reimbursement to.  I don’t know if that’s what happened, but it’s funny that those two percentages jived.


Now, the GAO also reported last week that the extra money – and again, that two percent we keep hearing about is really just a rhetorical two percent, because each year since the Balanced Budget Act, Congress has kicked in more money to the HMOs.  It’s never been two percent.  And the GAO reports that even the additional money that we’ve been giving the HMOs has not resulted in more patient benefits.  It’s gone to shareholders and executives.


SENATOR SPEIER:  Well, I think it said it went to pay physicians more.  Correct?


MR. CHRISTIE:  That’s correct.


SENATOR SPEIER:  Which is okay with me, as long as everyone is getting the same benefit.  That’s what bothers me.  The benefits are so different in different areas of the state – the premiums are different – and at some point that has to be resolved.


MR. CHRISTIE:  Well, that will lead me to another point:  What can we do about it?  Yes, Medicare is a federal program so there’s a lot of preemption of what the state can do, but no, there’s a lot of places where the state can act.


The most important thing we can do to protect folks in Medicare right now is to pass a very strong, comprehensive, voluntary prescription drug benefit in the traditional Medicare program.  If we had that, a lot of the aches and pains that we’ve talked about today would be alleviated to a great extent.  So, we really do need this prescription drug benefit.  


The attack on September 11th did not define this country.  The priorities that we’re working on right now do not define this country.  We still have folks getting old.  We’ve heard today we still have folks needing medical care.  We’ve got to rearrange our priorities, and that prescription drug benefit is at the top of it.


SENATOR SPEIER:  I couldn’t agree with you more, Mr. Christie, as you know, but my concern is that every suggestion or proposal that has been advanced on a federal level is less than what seniors have here in California with SB 393.  So, where does that get us for residents here in California – for seniors here in California?


MR. CHRISTIE:  Well, we do have a high watermark under the Clinton Administration of $400 billion over ten years for a Medicare prescription drug benefit.  That dropped to $300 billion under the new administration and is now completely off the table.  It seems to me we established the floor at $400 billion and that’s where we should be working up from to try to address this problem.


We have fifty-three members of Congress now, the largest delegation in the Congress.  I don’t know if the California Legislature’s sense is that we need this benefit.  I don’t know if that would move them, but it certainly wouldn’t hurt.


Closer to home – as the overseers of Knox-Keene and the licensing, all of these Medicare HMOs have to be licensed in California prior to becoming a Medicare HMO, and there’s probably some things there we can do.  Under existing Knox-Keene law, the director can get any information he really wants out of an HMO, and that would help consumers and advocates greatly to have the light of day thrown on some of these deliberations and calculations in how some of these decisions are made.  That’s the current authority within the department.  The citations are in my testimony to the code sections.


Beyond that, we should probably go from just allowing a one-year contracting period – and that’s something that could be done through Knox-Keene – to a multiyear contracting which would help stabilize this situation.  We could put in some then(?)-points:  in case costs got wild, something could happen to address that.  But a three-year contract is certainly better than a one-year contract, and that would help a lot.


SENATOR SPEIER:  Is that something we could do without being offensive to CMS?


MS. WELLER:  I think the problem is we have one-year contracts with the plans.


SENATOR SPEIER:  But if a state chose to make their contracts three years—


MS. WELLER:  With providers or with plans?


SENATOR SPEIER:  With plans.  And they submitted them to you—


MS. WELLER:  I don’t see how we would have any problem.


SENATOR SPEIER:  It’s almost like an enhanced benefit.


MS. WELLER:  Yes.


SENATOR SPEIER:  It saves you work, doesn’t it?


MS. WELLER:  Hopefully.


MR. CHRISTIE:  It looks like it’s going to create work for lawyers, but I’m for that.


SENATOR SPEIER:  Would you look at that and get back to us?  Could you run a test balloon up, a trial balloon up, and see if that would have any objection on the federal level?


MR. CHRISTIE:  One last suggestion:  Something that we should go back to is community rating.  Maybe we should just only permit plans to community rate within the state.  For some people costs will go up – for healthy people.  But this slicing and dicing of our population base to just ensure the most healthy among us and let the less healthy and the chronic care patients fend for themselves – we’ve got it backwards.  We need to back up and do what we were doing in the ’50s, and that seems like that’s something that could be done through Knox-Keene again.  It would take legislation to do it, but it would certainly create the proper environment for getting costs where they need to be, getting revenues where they need to be, to help fund the system the way it really exists.  


Basically, healthcare is for newborns and the very old and unpredictable disease and illness on the middle of us, if we get in an accident or something happens that none of us planned on.  And it’s pretty predictable.  There’s two models:  male and female.  If we get to a community basis on this, we eliminate the practice of just looking for the most healthy and avoiding the risk, and we’ll have an easier time financing our healthcare system.


SENATOR SPEIER:  Do you think the use of zip codes has the potential for discrimination?


MR. CHRISTIE:  Absolutely.  I think what we’re seeing now, and in my testimony I say that basically Medicare is the canary in the coal mine and he’s really got a bad case of asthma – he’s coughing.  The wheels are coming off the system for Medicare, the most popular middle-class program in the country basically, next to Social Security cash benefits.  And if the wheels are coming off for Medicare, we’re close behind – the rest of us – and we have to get a handle on this.  If we start allowing them to put copayments and cost based on the kind of disease you have or the treatments you get, it’s going to be, pretty soon, that the sickest of us will not be able to afford care.  We’ll be foisting all the costs on the most vulnerable among us.  It makes no sense.  


The same thing with zip codes.  If we start slicing and dicing zip codes so we’re cutting out folks that live out near one of the power plants, or whatever that’s an environmental hazard or where we’re seeing incidents of breast cancer or diabetes or what have you, then we’re really hurting ourselves.  We’re damaging the body of 

politic – the community.  We’re splintering a sense of community, and we’re really not providing a healthcare system.


SENATOR SPEIER:  How about Senator Johnson’s question?  Isn’t it better to zip code than to lose HMO coverage in a county entirely?


MR. CHRISTIE:  Well, maybe we throw an elbow back:  If you’re going to pull out of a whole county here, you can’t do business in L.A., or something like that.  


This is a system problem.  I was in Eureka last week where CalPERS pulled their HMOs out of that northern county, and folks that are government employees now are paying 16 percent of their gross – not their take-home – 16 percent of their gross to get healthcare.  There’s people up in Humboldt County who are eligible, based on their government pay, who are eligible for the Healthy Families programs.  They’re the folks administering the Healthy Families programs, but they can’t get their own children into Healthy Families because they’re government employees.  Just in every little turn people are being thwarted.


SENATOR SPEIER:  Are government employees exempted from Healthy Families?


MR. CHRISTIE:  Yes, because it’s a partly federal program and the feds don’t want to be paying the healthcare costs to state employees or county employees, so they’re not qualified.


SENATOR SPEIER:  So, they’re discriminated against.


MR. CHRISTIE:  That’s exactly right.


SENATOR SPEIER:  Is that something we can fix?


MR. CHRISTIE:  I would suspect that’s a federal issue.  I suspect, but I don’t know.


SENATOR SPEIER:  But we can do enhancements.  Healthy Families, you can make your programs bigger and better and richer.


MR. CHRISTIE:  Well, I would defer to one of my colleagues that knows Medicaid better than I do.


Anyway, no, I don’t think zip codes is a good way to slice and dice this.


SENATOR SPEIER:  Your comments are quite helpful, Mr. Christie.  Anything else?


MR. CHRISTIE:  No.  Just thanks for the opportunity and thanks for your leadership.


SENATOR SPEIER:  All right.  Now to you, Mr. Young.


MR. CASEY YOUNG:  Thank you, Senator.  I appreciate the invitation to come and talk to you about the impact on our enrollees.  


One of the nice things about coming to hearings like this is that it gives you some perspective, because our problems, in some respects, are not at all as bad as what I’m hearing in other sectors.  We don’t have the kind of coverage problems that I’m hearing here today.  There’s two plans that have Medicare Plus Choice.  That’s PacifiCare and Kaiser.  But as long as they have an HMO, they’ll get a supplemental plan that’ll include the drug coverage and so forth.  They don’t lose the kinds of things that I’ve been hearing about here that happens with some other people.


Our concern is more on the cost and the availability of any HMO.  We have had a long history of trying to provide our membership HMO options and they’ve gotten used to that.  They like that benefit design.  As early as 1998, we had an HMO option in all but one county – Alpine County.  I think there’s eighteen counties now where you can’t newly enroll in an HMO; I think fifteen counties where there is no HMO coverage.


Let me put that in some perspective, though, quickly.  We cover 1.2 million enrollees and we provide some HMO coverage for 1.1 million of those approximately.  So, for the most part, we are successful, but in those eighteen counties it makes it very, very difficult.


SENATOR SPEIER:  Let me ask you this, Mr. Young.  A couple years ago there was a bill – actually, I don’t know if, in the end, you supported it or not.


MR. YOUNG:  Which one?


SENATOR SPEIER:  At the time we were basically saying if you want to do business with the state of California – we’re an employer; we’re a purchaser of healthcare – if you want to be one of the HMOs that we will contract with, you cannot pull out of providing coverage to seniors in California in areas where you are already present.  And the bill got all the way, I guess, to the Assembly Appropriations Committee maybe.


MR. YOUNG:  Health Committee, as I recall.


SENATOR SPEIER:  Assembly Health Committee.


MR. YOUNG:  Right.  My memory is starting to come back.


SENATOR SPEIER:  What triggered it for me was the fact that you said in 1998 you were everywhere but Alpine and now you have a shrinking scenario.  If that had passed and become law, do you think the results would be any different?


MR. YOUNG:  I think maybe we would have had fewer options quicker.  But let me go on and describe kind of the situation we find ourselves in.  


What we think what’s really driving this is the differential in costs.  People started talking about rural areas but it’s really noncompetitive areas or lesser competitive areas.  There’s no HMOs in Monterey County.  That’s not really a rural area.  There’s no more access to HMOs in San Luis Obispo.  That’s not really a rural area.  I think it’s Sutter County – that huge issue up there.  It’s not really rural.  It’s fairly close here.  We’ve got a lot of people who work in Sacramento and live up there.  So, it’s really the cost in those, let’s call them, noncompetitive or less competitive areas.


There’s a lot of reasons people give.  Clearly, when you haven’t got as big a population in an area, you can’t get the same efficiencies, the economies of scale, that you can when you’ve got a tighter population; just the lack of competition:  people don’t have the incentive to lower price.  It’s just basic economics of supply and demand.  Clearly, we have a supply problem on providers and particularly in rural areas.


People talk about the differences and the practice patterns.  I mean, you’ve heard all about that too.  Up in Redding – apparently, the study says that there’s twice as many bypass surgeries as in the state as a whole.  There’s less managed care and there’s a cost to those things.


So, what happens?  In terms of our product and the way we do business, have done business, it has a real impact.  We have one statewide rate.  We just talked a little bit about community rating.  We have one statewide rate for each health plan that we contract with.  The health plans have to provide coverage to our enrollees in any area in which they’re licensed.  They can’t pick and choose.  They provide coverage wherever they’re licensed.  They’re not all licensed in all the same places.  We’ve got some that are licensed just in the Los Angeles Basin.  We’ve got some that are licensed in different counties.


SENATOR SPEIER:  By “licensed,” you mean that—


MR. YOUNG:  By DMHC.


SENATOR SPEIER:  DMHC specifies the counties in which they want to do business?


MR. YOUNG:  They’re authorized to provide coverage, right.


So, the health plans that we contract with, if they are in these higher cost areas, they have to basically make it up in the lower cost areas.


SENATOR SPEIER:  You know, what you just said is precisely what we were trying to do in terms of protecting Medicare enrollees in the state.


MR. YOUNG:  I think the basic problem with that approach was the assumption that we have more leverage than we do.  You know, we’re feeling very much like the tail on the dog these days.  It doesn’t feel like that way these days.  Like I said, we can’t keep the health plans in the rural areas.  


But let me finish here because there’s a dynamic that happens that I think you need to understand.  In these areas, say you’ve got three health plans that are in one of these areas.  Costs are higher and one of the plans says, “No, I can’t take it anymore.  I’m going to pull out of there.”  Well, all those high-cost lives go to the other plans, and they’ve got to pick up additional lives.  They become less competitive in the more lower cost areas, and it just feeds on itself.  So, once you start having people pulling out, if you’ve got a single statewide rate, they all pull out.  I think that’s what we’re seeing.  And we’re looking at this down the road and we see the trend continuing for these kinds of reasons.


We don’t think we can continue to do business like this.  We are in the process now of looking at all the options that we can think of.  One that’s been thrown out is more regional rating – making people pay the cost of healthcare in the areas in which they live – or more so, or some kind of scheme like that.  I know that Allen Feezor and his staff are going to the board early next year with a number of models, and they’re trying to think outside the box.  They don’t think they can continue to provide healthcare the way they have in the past because of what’s going on.


We see the costs just continuing to grow at unacceptable rates.  We see the coverage in the noncompetitive areas continuing to recede, and we’ve got to figure out another way to do business.


SENATOR SPEIER:  How about direct contracting?  It was an idea that you were certainly looking at.  It sounds like you’re abandoning it.  I would bet that there are a lot of providers that would be happy to do business with the state.


MR. YOUNG:  I think the press reports were a little over the top on that.  What’s really happened is that they went out with an RFP on direct contracting.  They got a whole lot of different kinds of proposals.  They looked at them and they said, We need to get the bigger vision of where we’re going here before we decide which ones of these we want to deal with.  We do think, after looking at this after a couple of years, that this isn’t any silver bullet.  I think there’s a feeling on the part of some that if you just take the HMO out of the equation and directly contract with the medical groups and so forth, that you’ll save a pile of money and it’ll all be better.  We don’t think so.


What our consultants are telling us is you might be able to squeeze maybe four percent out of that, and that’s without having given the providers any increase.  There’s a lot of people standing in line for that in terms of decreases in premiums or increases in provider reimbursement.  We don’t think that’s the silver bullet.  It may be a part of it, and it may well be a part of it in some of these noncompetitive areas; not because it’s going to save costs, but it may be a more effective way to delivery care.


SENATOR SPEIER:  What if the Legislature required you to do a pilot project, a direct contracting, in a certain region?


MR. YOUNG:  We may well end up doing it before that.  I know they’re looking at that as one of the options.  What I’d like to do is just keep in touch and let you know what we’ve got on our plate.  I don’t think there’s a requirement that has to happen.  Actually, that came up in Humboldt as well.  The medical community up there seems to have gotten together and decided that HMOs are not the way to deliver care in these kinds of areas:  HMOs are about moving volume and there’s no volume to move up here.  We have to have a different way to do business.  It seemed like they had put together the providers, and they were one of the groups that submitted something to us as perhaps a pilot; and I know we’ll be looking at that.


So, there is interest.  There probably isn’t one way, is my sense, to deal with this issue in all areas of the state.  I think there are different issues.


SENATOR SPEIER:  All right.  Is that it?


MR. YOUNG:  Thank you very much.


SENATOR SPEIER:  Ms. Higa.


MS. JOY HIGA:  Good afternoon, Madam Chair.


Thank you very much for the opportunity to come here and give you some information about the department’s role in overseeing the Medicare program in California.  I had a chance to speak to Dr. Ashcraft prior to the hearing, and I know there were some specific questions that he wanted me to address, so I’ll try to incorporate that into the testimony.


First, just to kind of clarify exactly how we license and take a look at these Medicare HMOs – in order to contract with CMS and with the federal government to participate in the Medicare program, HMOs do have to be licensed by the state.  When these organizations come to us to apply for a license, they are held to all of the same standards that we have in our Knox-Keene Act that we hold every other HMO in the state to.  That includes taking a look at their organizational and administrative capacity; looking at their subscriber and provider contracts, their provider networks, including geographic access issues – the fifteen-mile, thirty-minute general rule that you were talking about – as well as the adequacy of their doctrine networks – do they have enough doctors and hospitals and specialists to take care of the number of members they project to have? – the materials they use to communicate with all of their enrollees, including their market and advertising; their procedures for resolving consumer complaints; their other kinds of HMO operations; and then their financial viability and fiscal arrangements.


When we do approve a license, it is a license for a healthcare service plan.  That’s the legal term in California.  It’s not a license specifically for Medicare or for Medi-Cal or for commercial, but it’s for that HMO just to do business in this state.


SENATOR SPEIER:  Let me interrupt you a moment, please.  There’s nothing that could preclude us from having a more rigorous review or a different kind of a review relative to Medicare.


MS. HIGA:  You mean in terms of having the Legislature make some changes?


SENATOR SPEIER:  We could create, could we not, a requirement that the department look at an HMO application and look at some additional measurements if they are going to be providing a Medicare Plus Choice product as part of the license?  It sounds like, in order for them to go to CMS to begin with, they have to have a license.


MS. HIGA:  I’m not sure that I can answer that question without looking into the issue a little more.  I would think that licensing requirements that we would have, because they’re not specific to a particular product but they’re for the plan, you could look at changing or expanding the kinds of requirements just to obtain a license in this state as opposed to having it apply to a particular product.  When a plan comes to us for a license, it’s not specific to offering a commercial or Medicare or Medicaid product, but it’s just to do business in this state and to meet our standards.


SENATOR SPEIER:  Dr. Ashcraft?


DR. ASHCRAFT:  One of the questions I had earlier, we were talking about, was the provider network.  You say you apply the same rigor.  Well, as we’ve been finding out with the negotiations in Sutter, they have separate contracts for the Medicare population.  The network for Sutter is not the network for all patients.  There’s a Sutter Medicare network and there’s a Sutter commercial network and there’s a Sutter Healthy Families network.  So, how do you evaluate their network since there are clearly different contracts?


MS. HIGA:  I think when a plan comes to the department to be licensed, they have a basic provider network adequacy standard and a geographic access standard that they need to meet regardless of who their enrollees are, whether they’re Medicare, Medicaid, or commercial enrollees, and we hold them to that standard.  They have to provide us with extensive data, including mapping – all of the providers in different counties – so that we can assess whether or not the members that they believe that they will have in their HMO will have adequate access to all of those providers.  And that’s just a basic minimum standard that a plan needs to meet just to start doing business in California.  So, that’s one to which all HMOs are held, regardless of the kinds of products that they offer.


DR. ASHCRAFT:  So, are you looking at their Medicare network?


MS. HIGA:  Of course, a lot of the Medicare HMOs that we’re talking about are already licensed, so they’ve kind of gone past that stage.  Whenever they make a change to any aspect of their license, including a change to their provider network, they’re required by law to file that change with the department.  So, we do take a look at it.  


With the volume of contract terminations and medical group insolvencies that we’re seeing, we take a very close look not just at that specific contract termination issue but what the adequacy is of the proposed network that they might be moving their members to.  And when those contract terminations or insolvencies involve Medicare and commercial and other members, we take a look at it for all of those patients, not just for commercial patients.


When Barbara from CMS was talking about some of the coordinating work that we’ve done between the department and the federal agencies, that’s one of the areas that we have become involved.  When KPC closed its doors last year and we handled looking at how the HMOs dealt with taking care of their patients, how they dealt with the medical records, we weren’t looking to protect just commercial patients, but we really ordered the HMOs to do certain actions and to take certain steps that apply to all of their patients who were affected by that.


I’ll go ahead and continue with some of the other questions that you asked me to look into.  One of the questions that I think, Dr. Ashcraft, you posed was:  “If you take a look at these Medicare HMOs or HMOs generally when they go into a service area, what role do you play or not play when they leave a service area?”  


I think to look at that you kind of have to look at what kinds of consumer protections we have in California for patients when their HMO is looking to leave a certain area.  Our protections really look at how groups or how consumers are notified about the HMO’s intention to leave that area; how arrangements are made to provide alternative kinds of coverage to those patients, whether it’s providing some kind of guaranteed issue product that that HMO might offer as an alternative – if they offer PPO products or POS products that they want to keep offering in that area – or if they’re making arrangements to secure coverage for their patients with another plan that continues to operate in that service area.  


Those kinds of consumer protections that we have in California are preempted by the Medicare guidelines and by federal laws, and as a result, the Medicare withdrawals or partial service area withdrawals that we’ve been seeing over the past year or two have really fallen to the federal government and to CMS to make decisions on as opposed to California and the Department of Managed Health Care.


SENATOR SPEIER:  Let me interrupt a moment.  You heard the testimony earlier from Ms. Weller who suggested that they don’t do a lot of enforcement really.  They really rely on the state to assess the financial reliability of an HMO and carry out the enforcement functions that you have as part of your licensure.  True?


MS. HIGA:  Right.


MS. WELLER:  True.  But we have our own enforcement actions that we do take too.


SENATOR SPEIER:  Right.  But it would seem to me that you’re not nearly as preempted as you think you are.


MS. HIGA:  Well, maybe what I’ll do then is kind of get to where I was going to close, which is to talk about, despite this preemption issue, we still believe that the Department of Managed Health Care and the state plays an extremely strong role in overseeing Medicare HMOs.


There are some HMOs that do have separate provider networks, like you’ve talked about.  But in other areas of their operations, they don’t have medical directors or quality assurance staff that focus only on commercial or only on Medicare members.  They don’t have separate corporate financial structures that focus just on Medicare or just on commercial.  If they’re licensed to do business in this state, their operations really extend to all the lines of business that they’re engaged in:  Medicare, commercial, even Medi-Cal.  


And so, to the extent that we oversee how they do business through our financial examinations, looking at their financial solvency and their financial viability, to the extent that we do plan surveys, looking at the quality of care that’s rendered to those patients, looking at the preventive services that they offer, looking at how well their grievance procedures and their utilization procedures work, all of those systems and all of the problems that we find in those systems, relate to all of their patients, not just Medicare or commercial.  And so, when we identify a problem like the HMO problem that you alluded to earlier in the hearing – where a plan was saying that because we find/fine(?) them on the basis of several patients, one or two of whom might be Medicare patients, and that we are preempted from doing that – we strongly oppose that position.  In fact, the federal court came down on our side and threw out that HMO challenge to our authority to look at the experience that all of the HMO’s patients are having and to take action against that HMO for all of those patients and require them to fix problems that benefit all of those patients.  So, we still think that we play a strong role in overseeing the behaviors of Medicare HMOs in California.


You know, one of the shortcomings that we see for Medicare patients is that some of the other, much stronger patient rights that you and the Governor and other members of the Legislature passed in ’99 are not available to Medicare patients because of this preemption issue.  Where we see the program having to move is for Congress and the Administration to look to California as a model to strengthen patient rights for Medicare beneficiaries in California and across the country as opposed to bringing California’s Medicare patients down to the lowest common denominator.


SENATOR SPEIER:  The legislation we passed on HMO reform does not apply to Medicare HMO enrollees?


MS. HIGA:  Much of it does not because we are preempted in areas relating to benefits, for example.  Mental health parity is one example of that.  That’s a benefit that’s available that HMOs are required to provide in California, but because state laws in California and elsewhere are preempted in the area of benefits, Medicare patients in HMOs don’t have that same right.  In the area of grievances – the strong, new grievance laws that we passed in 1999 that shorten the time frame that HMOs have to resolve patient problems and then to allow them to come to our HMO Help Center for help – those state laws in the areas of grievances and appeals and complaint resolution are also preempted.


SENATOR SPEIER:  Well, the independent medical review that we’ve put in place in California is really fashioned, in some respects, on the federal Medicare CHDR program.  I’m wondering about other things we might have done.


MS. HIGA:  You’re right that the independent medical review program is based on that, but as an example, even beyond having access to independent medical review, we have a twenty-four-hour-a-day, seven-day-a-week HMO Help Center that patients can call for help.


SENATOR SPEIER:  Right.  So, if you’re a Medicare patient you say, “We can’t help you”?


MS. HIGA:  Because we are not allowed by federal law from resolving complaints or grievances for Medicare patients.  We don’t tell them “We can’t help you.”  We do everything we can to try to put them in touch with people who can help them – to refer them to CMS, to refer them to their local HICAP organizations – so that others who are able to assist can.  That’s something that we created when our doors first opened to help consumers, regardless of what kind of HMO they’re in, but that is not a service that we’ve really been able to provide to Medicare patients to the same extent we can to others.


SENATOR SPEIER:  How do we fix that?  You can’t possibly object to having a sister – or maybe I should say “daughter” – agency help you resolve disputes with the HMO that’s providing the Medicare—


MS. WELLER:  No, and we’ve been having discussions about it.  This has come to light recently, and we’ve been having a number of discussions as to how we can resolve this here without having to change laws or whatever.  Obviously, we want them to have a place to refer people and to discuss what our rules are, because our appeals rules are a little bit different than what the state requirements are.  So, we are working on it.


SENATOR SPEIER:  If we, in California, required that HMOs participate in the help-line program for their Medicare enrollees like they do for other enrollees, that would get them hooked into doing it, then the only thing we would really need is for the federal government to approve that.  Correct?


MS. WELLER:  Well, I think it gets a little tricky.  We have a lawsuit that we lost on Grijalva, which was a class-action suit across the country, and it deals with the appeals rights of beneficiaries.  I don’t think that we can do anything than what we’re doing now.


SENATOR SPEIER:  Yes, but this is before you get to the appeals.


MS. WELLER:  If a person calls up and says, “I was denied a service,” that is the appeals process.  You’re immediately into the appeals process.  And there’s several options for those people to pursue.  By calling the HMO they can get into an expedited 72-hour process for a decision on that case.


MS. HIGA:  And Senator, I think what we hope, in the department, is that rather than having our staff at the HMO Help Center sort of get caught up in a federal and state conflict and get caught up in Medicare bureaucracy, what we hope can happen is that the centers for Medicare and Medicaid services and the federal government will look to offer to Medicare beneficiaries the same kind of resources that we are offering in California.


SENATOR SPEIER:  Well, I don’t know that you’re going to go there, but what if the federal government said, for purposes of dispute resolution that are not elevated to the grievance process – because many of these are just responded to over the phone by Ms. Higa or someone on her staff calling the plan and getting the result that the enrollee wants.  So, what if the state became your agent for dispute resolutions that did not get elevated to the point of being a grievance?


MS. WELLER:  I think it would – see, and we use the term “appeals.”


SENATOR SPEIER:  HICAP probably does that.


MS. DANIELS:  I’m not sure that you understand that HICAP does the appeals and the grievances.  That’s what I do, if there’s problems in an HMO.  It’s not just HICAP but HICAP is one of the organizations that does it.  The appeals – for instance, if an HMO denies anything and they get to HICAP somehow – we actually work with them and walk them through and do the appeals for them or teach them how to do the appeal or call the HMO.  We’ve been doing that for years.


SENATOR SPEIER:  I guess my one concern – and I don’t know what your success rate has been.  I mean, you do a fabulous job in educating and attempting to get people to the right resources.  HMOs tend to respond quickly when their regulator calls them, and you’re not a regulator of the HMO.


MS. DANIELS:  The Medicare law is very strict.  If it’s a life-threatening problem, they must answer within 72 hours, and we’re really successful.


SENATOR SPEIER:  So, is there not a problem here, Ms. Higa?  I don’t want to create one where there isn’t one.


MS. HIGA:  There isn’t a problem in that our staff and the HMO Help Center are ready and prepared and do help commercial and Medicaid patients in this state.  There are other resources through HICAP and through CMS that are available to help Medicare HMO patients.  The HMO Help Center is the centerpiece of our department.  It’s available twenty-four hours a day, seven days a week.  We think that it’s unfortunate that Medicare beneficiaries don’t have access to that same kind of resource around the clock.


SENATOR SPEIER:  So you want HICAP to be twenty-four-hour/seven.  The seniors, then, have to wait until the next day to access HICAP, in effect, is what happens.


MS. HIGA:  There are seniors who still call our department.


SENATOR SPEIER:  No, I understand that, but in terms of getting the resource available to them, if the benefit that they don’t have is that they don’t have the twenty-four-hour service, they have the service through HICAP but it’s next day.


MS. WELLER:  Well, they actually have the 1-800 number which has gone to twenty-four hours, seven days a week.  They can access that number and those people are supposed to help them on some of these things.


SENATOR SPEIER:  Is there still something that I’m missing here?


MS. HIGA:  No, I don’t think so.  The point that I was trying to make is that some of the patient rights that were passed in 1999 are not available to California Medicare HMO patients.  What we think needs to happen is for Congress to strengthen patient rights for Medicare beneficiaries across the country.


SENATOR SPEIER:  If it became apparent to you that a plan had pulled out of an area, using the zip coding, to reduce their exposure for particular enrollees, do you have a basis on which to take action?


MS. HIGA:  Yes, we do.  The state laws have very strong anti-discrimination provisions that prohibit discrimination on the basis of age, sex, sexual orientation, race, ethnicity, etc.  


There are some plans who have come to the department indicating that they do want to only provide services in certain parts of a county or certain parts of a service area.  It’s for some of the reasons that have been indicated earlier, that there either aren’t the adequate provider networks available to sustain an HMO or because of some kind of geographic issue, like those zip codes apply to a state park and so they wouldn’t be marketing there.


Frankly, whenever an HMO comes to us and says that, we’re skeptical.  It’s a red flag where we’re concerned, about how the action might be discriminating against enrollees in that area.  So, that’s the lens through which we view their filing or their request to us to do that.  If their contention is that they are not going to be marketing or providing a service in a particular part of the county, we ask them to provide us with extensive information on why they cannot secure the right provider network, why they can’t contract with those providers – give us some detailed information about the negotiations they’ve had with those providers – to really demonstrate that that is really the reason why they believe they can’t provide that product as opposed to some other reasons.


SENATOR SPEIER:  Let’s take an example where a health plan has requested by zip code to withdraw from an area for Medicare enrollees, but they continue to provide services in that area for commercial enrollees.  The network is there.  Would you look at that?


MS. HIGA:  I don’t believe that we would because the decision to allow a plan to offer services in different areas is really up to the federal government because they’re the ones who ultimately control the contract that that HMO has to participate in that—


SENATOR SPEIER:  Well, you just heard testimony today that they really don’t look at the contracts.  You really have to become their eyes and ears because they’re spread too thin.  As part of this partnership, I think that we’ve got to rely on the department that’s much more savvy about the relationships and the contracting to be more vigilant about looking at this kind of conduct.  Ms. Weller has said they really do not rely on anything more than what’s in the newspaper, in some respects, to determine whether or not there’s a problem; that they don’t look at contracts.  You do look at contracts.  You do engage in some respect, and you have oversight over those HMOs.  The Sutter Health negotiations that we recently both spent a lot of time on would suggest to me that there’s something going on there.  Where the network exists for a commercial enrollee and doesn’t exist for a Medicare enrollee, something isn’t right.


MS. HIGA:  As Ms. Weller indicated earlier, since we opened our doors we have been working with CMS on a number of different issues, primarily pertaining to how we can work together to minimize confusion for patients:  doing training at both of our help centers to make sure that our staff knows how to refer Medicare patients to CMS and things like that.  I think that what we can definitely commit to doing is looking for other ways to coordinate and partner and to provide CMS, either at the regional level or at the Central Office level, with more information that they should take into account as they’re looking at these kinds of issues going forward.


SENATOR SPEIER:  All right.  Anything further?


I want to remind all of you – those who are watching on TV as well – we have a new brochure that the Senate puts out on “What to do if You Lose Your Medicare HMO Coverage” that has just recently been updated and is available through the Senate offices.


If there’s nothing further to come before the committee, we will stand adjourned.  I want to thank you all, again, for participating, and a special thank you to Ms. Weller for staying here for the duration and for participating as well.


The committee stands adjourned.
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